

Evaluating Temperature and Precipitation Extremes under a 1.5°C and 2.0°C Warming Above Pre-Industrial Levels: Botswana Case Study

Master's Thesis

Environmental and Geographical Science Department

AFRICAN CLIMATE AND DEVELOPMENT INITIATIVE (ACDI)

Tiro Nkemelang (NKMTIR001)

Supervisors: Prof. Mark New, Prof. Nnyaladzi Batisani and Dr. Modathir Zaroug

26/07/2018

Declaration

I know the meaning of plagiarism and declare that all of the work in the dissertation, save for that which is properly acknowledged, is my own.

I confirm that I have been granted permission by the University of Cape Town's Science Faculty to include the following publication(s) in my Master's dissertation, and where coauthorships are involved, my co-authors have agreed that I may include the publication:

"Nkemelang, T., New, M. & Zaroug, M. 2018. Temperature and precipitation extremes under current, 1.5 °C and 2.0 °C global warming above pre-industrial levels over Botswana, and implications for climate change vulnerability. *Environmental Research Letters*. 13(6):065016. DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/aac2f8."

TIRO NKEMELANG

Acknowledgements

I would like to first and foremost give thanks to God, for I believe it is by His grace and wisdom that I was able to find the strength to go on when things looked impossible. A very special thank you to my wife, who sacrificed and provided unwavering support towards my studies. Special thanks to my supervisors, Prof. Mark New, Prof. Nnyaladzi Batisani and Dr. Modathir Zaroug for the invaluable guidance, expertise and encouragements during the entire process of working through the research. Their words of wisdom and encouragement are highly appreciated, especially when things seemed impossible. I would also like to thank the Adaptation To Climate Change in the Semi-Arid Regions of Southern Africa, ASSAR project under the African Climate and Development Initiative (ACDI) for providing financial support, my employer, Botswana Institute for Technology, Research and Innovation (BITRI) for allowing me time off to further my studies. To the ACDI MSc course convener, Dr. Marieke Norton and the ACDI cohort of 2017, thank you for the great and conducive learning environment that taught me a lot.

Abstract

The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) noted the need and therefore requested further quantitative research to better inform policy on the potential impacts of further warming to 1.5 and 2.0 °C above preindustrial levels. Climate extremes are expected to become more severe as the global climate continues to warm due to anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions. The extent to which extremes and their impacts are to change due to additional 0.5 °C warming increments at regional level as the global climate systems warms from current levels to 1.5 and then 2.0 °C above preindustrial levels need to be understood to allow for better preparedness and informed policy formulation. Having realized the lack of research on this front in Botswana, this study investigates the differentiated impacts of climate change on climate extremes under the current, 1.5 and 2.0 °C warmer climates. The dissertation analysed the projected changes in extremes using Expert Team on Climate Change Detection and Indices (ETCCDI), derived from fifth version of Coupled Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP5) projections over Botswana, a country highly vulnerable to the impacts of climate change. Results indicate that (i) projected changes in temperature extremes are significantly different at the three levels of global warming, with hot day and night extremes expected to realise the greatest increases; (ii) drought related indices are also significantly different, and suggest progressively increasing drought risk with shortened rainfall seasons especially in northern Botswana; and (iii) heavy rainfall indices are likely to increase, but are not statistically different at the different global warming levels. The implications of these changes for key socio-economic sectors are explored, and reveal progressively severe impacts, and consequent adaptation challenges for Botswana as the global climate warms from its present temperature to 1.5 and then 2.0 °C.

List of Acronyms

BOPA – Botswana Press Agency

CCCMA – Canadian Centre for Climate Modelling and Analysis

CESM – Community Earth System Model

CMAP – Climate Prediction Centre Merged Analysis of Precipitation

CMIP – Coupled Model Inter-comparison Project

DSF – Dry Spell Frequency

DWA – Department of Water Affairs

ENSO – El Nino Southern Oscillation

ERL – Environmental Research Letters

ETCCDI – Expert Team on Climate Change Detection and Indices

KNMI – Koninklijk Nederlands Meteorologisch Instituut (Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute)

GCM – General Circulation Model

GDP – Gross Domestic Product

GEV – Generalized Extreme Value

GHG – Greenhouse Gas

GMST - Global Mean Surface Temperature

IPCC – Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

IQR – Inter Quartile Range

ISIMIP – Inter-Sectoral Impact Model Intercomparison Project

ITCZ – Intertropical Convergence Zone

MCC – Mesoscale Convective Systems

MDG – Millennium Development Goals

MICE – Modelling the Impact of Climate Extremes

NOAA - National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration

RCP – Representative Concentration Pathway

SAM – Social Accounting Matrix

SIDS – Small Island Developing States

SRES – Special Report on Emissions Scenarios

TTT – Temperate Tropical Troughs

UN – United Nations

UNFCCC – United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

WATCH – Water and Global Change programme

WFDEI – WATCH Forcing Data methodology applied to ERA-Interim reanalysis data

WGCCD – Working Group on Climate Change Detection

WMO – World Meteorological Organization

WPSR – Wilcoxon Paired Signed Rank

List of Figures

List of Tables

Table of Contents

Declarati	on	ii
Acknowle	edgements	iii
Abstract.		iv
List of Ac	ronyms	v
List of Fig	gures	vi
List of Ta	bles	vi
Table of (Contents	. vii
CHAPTER	1. INTRODUCTION AND RESEARCH RATIONALE	1
CHAPTER	2. LITERATURE REVIEW	5
		_
2.1.	1.5 and 2.0 °C Warming	5
2.2.	Climate Extremes	8
211	I Climata Extremes under climate change	0
2.1.1	Climate Extremes under 1 F and 2 0 °C warming	9
2.1.2	2 Climate Extremes in Southern Africa	.10
2.1.5	Climate Extremes in Botswana	. 11 12
2.1.4		. 15
23	Climate Change Vulnerability in Botswana	14
2.3.	Aim of the Study	.15
CHAPTER	3. STUDY AREA: BOTSWANA'S GEOGRAPHICAL SETTING	. 16
3.1.	Geographical Location and Topography	.16
3.2.	Climate	. 17
3.3.	Botswana's Social and Economic Setting	. 18
CHAPTER	4. DATA AND METHODOLOGY	. 20
A 1	Data	20
4.1.	Dala	.20
4.2.	Wethouology	. 22
CHAPTER	5. BESULTS AND DISCUSSION	. 25
•••••		
5.1.	Precipitation Extremes Changes	. 25
5.2.	Temperature Extremes Changes	. 29
5.3.	Implications for Vulnerability to Climate Change in Botswana	.31
CHAPTER	6. CONCLUSIONS	. 33
6.1.	Key Results	.33
6.2.	Limitations, Future Work and Recommendations	.35
		~-
CHAPTER		. 3/
CHAPTER		. 49

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION AND RESEARCH RATIONALE

Climate change is one of the greatest human made challenges and threats currently faced by the global community, imposing various risks to society and natural systems either directly or indirectly such as risks to infrastructure, health, food and water security (King et al., 2015; ASC, 2016). Having realised the prevailing and imminent negative impacts climate change poses to the world economy and human wellbeing and security, world leaders resolved to increase effort towards reducing the negative impacts by setting global temperature targets in the 2015 Paris Agreement on climate change (UNFCCC, 2015). A goal of keeping global warming below 2.0 °C above preindustrial levels was agreed on, with an ambition to limit the warming to 1.5 °C; the latter being regarded as a much safer option, as a 2.0 °C warmer climate could lead to unchartered territories (Hare et al., 2016). Based on these two temperature targets, shifts in climates of different localities across the globe can then be assessed to determine the extent to which an additional 0.5 °C temperature rise would influence both the mean and the extremes. With some studies proposing that the 1.5 °C warming level could be crossed as early as 2026 (Henley and King, 2017), the need for early action to both reduce emissions, and respond to potential impacts, becomes even more critical.

The climate of any given locality is important in defining livelihoods of communities living in the area. It affects the wider natural ecosystems and socioeconomic activities needed for humanity to thrive. The norm is to define the climate by its mean state, where day-to-day and month to month weather is averaged to calculate long term mean behaviour, and its variance. Though this helps in understanding the general picture, some important aspects such as extremes that could be of significance for defining climate risks to livelihoods can easily be overlooked. Understanding climate extremes becomes relevant in this sense, as it is through climate extremes that many climate change impacts occur (Trenberth, 2012). Therefore, the changing weather and climate patterns due to global warming can be seen in the shifting of the mean, increased variability and the changing of distribution symmetry (Seneviratne et al., 2012). It is the climate extremes that are usually tied to disasters such as floods, droughts and heat waves (Seneviratne et al., 2012).

These disasters are the ones that produce some of the greatest negative impacts on livelihoods and national security such loss of life, damage to infrastructure and food insecurity (IPCC, 2012; McElroy and Baker, 2012; World Bank, 2013). Temperature and precipitation records continue to be broken worldwide as was observed in the years 2016-17, with 2017 being declared the second warmest on record after 2016 (NOAA, 2017; Northon, 2018). Economic losses from natural disasters, most of which were related to extreme climate events amounted to over £175 billion (Munich Re, 2017). Given the continued increase of anthropogenic greenhouse gases into the atmosphere, the global mean surface temperature (GMST) continues to rise, leading to changing regional climate patterns across the globe (IPCC, 2013), and of course, associated climate and weather extremes. This scenario therefore calls for an in-depth look at how these extremes will evolve in the future to allow for informed future planning, as well as to understand the regional and local implications of different global warming targets.

To enable consistent monitoring of extremes across different locations, a set of 27 temperature and precipitation indices were devised by the Expert Team on Climate Change Detection and Indices (ETCCDI) (Zhang et al., 2011). Several studies have shown changes in the historical context of these indices based on observed data (Frich et al., 2002; Alexander et al., 2006; New et al., 2006; Manton, 2010) and reanalysis data (Sillmann et al., 2013a) across the globe. For future climate change, a number of studies have looked at the projected changes in both temperature (Sillmann et al., 2013b; Lewis and King, 2017) and precipitation (Sillmann et al., 2013b) extremes globally. Most of these studies looked at these changes for a particular period in the 21st century following a particular concentration scenario, the current Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs), e.g. (Fischer et al., 2013; Lewis and King, 2017) or emissions scenario, e.g. (Kharin et al., 2007).

At regional scales, a number of studies have been carried out to assess both the historical, current and future context of temperature and precipitation extremes (You et al., 2011; Monier and Gao, 2015; Dosio, 2016; Razavi et al., 2016; Alexander and Arblaster, 2017; Shi et al., 2017). For Southern Africa, New et al. (2006) investigated the historical context of extremes from observations while Shongwe et al. (2009) and Pinto et al. (2016) looked at the historical and future projection of precipitation extremes from reanalysis and downscaled climate model outputs. Very few studies have looked at climate extremes in individual African countries (Abiodun et al., 2016; Touré Halimatou et al., 2017). None of the literature reviewed during the course of this research looked at the differentiated impact of 1.5 and a 2.0 °C warming on climate extremes.

Botswana, though highly exposed and vulnerable to the impacts of climate change, is generally poorly researched with regards to climate change, especially on the changes in climate extremes under climate change. Hambira and Saarinen (2015) together with Akinyemi (2017) noted the widespread agreement among policy makers and the general public on the perceived changing climate patterns in Botswana, that there is reduced rainfall, rising temperatures and increased drought recurrence. Even though there is this general consensus, little scientific evidence exists to confirm these views.

This research project therefore intends to assist in reducing these knowledge gaps. It aims to quantify the projected changes in climate extremes in Botswana that can be expected at the global policy agreed in Paris (1.5 and 2.0 °C) relative to both pre-industrial and present day global temperature levels. This work therefore responds to the request from the UNFCCC for studies that provide more information on the relative impacts of the respective warming levels both locally and globally.

This thesis is structured as follows. Chapter 2 presents the literature review; first, literature relevant to the UNFCCC's request to provide a baseline report on the impacts of 1.5 and 2.0 °C warming above preindustrial levels is presented; followed by a review of literature on climate extremes in general, as well as climate extremes in relation to (i) 1.5 and 2.0 °C, (ii) Southern Africa and Botswana; this is followed by a review of literature on climate change vulnerability in Botswana, after which the aim of the study are presented in the light of the review. Chapter 3 presents background information on Botswana's geography and climate and socioeconomic setting. Chapters 4 presents both data and methodology, as presented in a journal article, which is published in Environmental Research Letters (ERL). In Chapter 5 are the results and discussions,

the findings of the study are presented and discussed together with the implications towards climate change vulnerability in Botswana. The results are also presented here as they are in the ERL journal article. Finally, Chapter 6 is the concluding chapter, where the major findings of the study are summarized and the limitations, future work and recommendations are presented.

CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

In the literature review, the reasons behind the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)'s resolution to limit temperature rise are first explored, followed by a look at both temperature and precipitation extremes. Climate extremes are looked at in general, followed by a summary of studies that tried to find the differentiated impacts of 1.5 and 2.0 °C warming of the climate system. A review of literature on the historical, current and future context of extremes in Africa and Southern Africa then follows. Later on, a review of literature on the state of research relating to climate change vulnerability and how climate extremes are perceived in Botswana is presented, so as to create a basis for the need of research in this area in Botswana.

2.1. **1.5 and 2.0 °C Warming**

The Paris Agreement, under Article 2, resolved to keep global warming to below 2.0 °C with an effort to limit the temperature increase to below 1.5 °C above preindustrial levels (UNFCCC, 2015). The aim to limit the warming to 1.5 °C is thought to potentially reduce negative future climate change risks and impacts, especially for Small Island Developing States (SIDS), and other countries with high vulnerability to climate change. Some argue that the 1.5 °C is still insufficient as it undermines the SIDS states whose communities are already being threatened by sea level rise (Tschakert, 2015). These targets have significant policy implications, with most of the upper middle income to high income countries preferring 2.0 °C while the rest are pushing for the lower boundary target (Tschakert, 2015). The uncertainty associated with the time when the climate system reaches the 1.5/2.0 °C temperature warmings coupled with political and technical challenges could make these targets even more difficult to reach (Peters, 2016). Currently, the Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) submitted by party signatories to the Paris agreement fall short of the targets to keep below 2.0 °C. The NDCs are estimated to commit the climate system to a 3.2 °C warming above preindustrial levels while current policies actually implemented deliver 3.4 °C of warming by 2100 (Climate Action Tracker, 2017). Huntingford and Mercado (2016) suggest that current greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions have already committed warming to more than the 1.5 °C target while some recent studies suggests there is a chance the

committed warming is still below 1.5 °C (Mauritsen and Pincus, 2017). Another study by Raftery et al. (2017) suggests that if policy interventions are not put into place, there is a very low chance of meeting the 1.5 and 2.0 °C targets by 2100. To meet the 1.5 °C target, stringent emission cuts will have to be put in place in order to limit further GHG emissions (Millar et al., 2017; Su et al., 2017). According to Arnell et al. (2017), between 27 and 62% of impacts could be avoided globally by keeping GMST at 1.5 instead of 2.0 °C above pre-industrial levels. The findings outlined above further add to the pressure that the global community is under to mitigate further GHG emissions. Based on these factors, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) was invited by the UNFCCC to "provide a special report in 2018 on the impacts of global warming of 1.5 °C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways" (UNFCCC, 2015). The report will provide a scientific basis for the need for stringent mitigation efforts (Hulme, 2016).

Assessing the differential impacts of climate due to a 0.5 °C increment in GMST has been found to be very difficult especially when trying to use existing model simulations such as Special Report on Emissions Scenarios (SRES) and RCPs (James et al., 2017). Literature differs considerably in defining the base period for estimating the time when models reach 1.5 and 2.0 °C warming above preindustrial levels. Mitchell et al. (2017) defines a 20 year period of 1861-1880, Schleussner et al. (2016) and Henley and King (2017) used the 1850-1900 period defined by IPCC (2013) while Huang et al. (2017) used the 40 year period 1861-1900. James et al. (2017) acknowledges that there is no optimal base period and defines ΔT_g , "increments of global mean surface temperature increase without reference to baseline" owing to the spread in literature in defining the base period. These differences make uncertain the times at which the climate system reaches the 1.5/2.0 °C warming.

Various approaches have been taken to define the time at which the climate system reaches a GMST of 1.5 and 2.0 °C above temperature at a chosen preindustrial period. Of the studies that considered the use of the fifth version of Coupled Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP5) model outputs, Karmalkar and Bradley (2017) defines the time when the ensemble mean from the RCPs reach the required global temperature warming. Wang et al. (2017) and King et al. (2017) define

a 20 year period following the year a particular ensemble member reaches either 1.5 or 2.0 °C. A more critical look at the various methods currently being employed to extract response of model runs to temperature increments has been carried out by James et al. (2017). The authors here outline both the strengths and weaknesses with four methods discussed namely: Scenario approach, sub-selecting models, pattern scaling and time sampling (James et al., 2017). Descriptions of the methods and examples of studies that applied them are outlined in *Table 2-1*.

Table 2-1: Descriptions with study examples of methods employed to extract the response of model runs to temperature increments (James et al., 2017)

Method	Description	Examples of Studies
Scenario Approach	This method considers a particular RCP or SRES and analysis is made for a specific time interval. It is noted that it is not possible to compare 1.5 and 2.0 °C using this method.	May (2008) Schewe et al. (2011)
Sub-Selecting Models	Only runs within an ensemble from a single scenario that exceed a temperature warming of interest are selected based on the global temperature response. The method cannot be used to distinguish climate of two warming levels.	Clark et al. (2010) Betts et al. (2011) Fung et al. (2011)
Pattern Scaling	This method was initially proposed by Mitchell (2003). It assumes a linear relationship between GMST change and local/regional climate response. Local climate response to a change in GMST is derived from a scale factor between GMST and the regional climate.	Zelazowski et al. (2011) Frieler et al. (2012) Tebaldi and Arblaster (2014)
Time Sampling	This method identifies a date when a model experiment reaches a desired temperature warming. The climatology can then be defined by a period centred at the identified date. The chosen climatology can then be compared with the climatology at other desired temperature increments.	Zaroug et al. (in review) Kaplan and New (2006) Schleussner et al. (2016)

When considering the weaknesses in the above mentioned methods, James et al. (2017) suggested that new approaches to be devised to complement the deficiencies. Some recent studies have come up with the new approaches (Mitchell et al., 2017; Sanderson et al., 2017), proposing that the climate system be allowed to stabilize first before the assessments are made

in order to avoid using results from outputs that are in a transient state. Even though the use of CMIP5 model outputs has been critiqued based on James et al. (2017)'s findings, the current study bases its assessment on the outputs from the CMIP5 project owing to the readily accessible dataset on temperature and precipitation climate extremes. The dataset also has the advantage of using many Global Climate Models (GCMs), providing an ensemble that is useful in spanning key uncertainties, internal climate variability and sensitivities to GHG forcing.

2.2. Climate Extremes

The IPCC defines climate extremes as "the occurrence of a value of a weather or climate variable above (or below) a threshold value near the upper (or lower) ends of the range of observed values of the variable" (IPCC, 2012b). Climate extremes could then refer to extremes of individual atmospheric variables, weather and climate phenomena causing extremes or compounded impacts on the natural environment (Seneviratne et al., 2012). This study focuses on the first category that looks at the individual atmospheric variables namely, temperature and precipitation. To quantify climate extremes, several methods have been proposed, with extreme climate indices being the most popular. The ETCCDI indices (Zhang et al., 2011) have been widely used and accepted by the research community because of their robustness and applicability to any region in the world. These indices were a result of the workshop held by the Working Group on Climate Change Detection (WGCCD) in Morocco aimed at filling data gaps and developing the climate indices for Africa (Easterling et al., 2003). The same indices are recommended by the World Meteorological Organization (WMO) to be used by national meteorological and hydrological services when assessing and estimating climate extremes (WMO, 2009). Some other methods have been suggested including the use of a generalized extreme value (GEV) distribution to study the return period of the climate extremes (Kharin et al., 2007). The IPCC (2013) when describing the indices used in the IPCC fifth assessment report, notes that there are some initiatives being devised to combine indices of precipitation, temperature and other climate variables to investigate the intensity and extent of extremes. The current study only considers ETCCDI extreme indices relevant to climate change vulnerability in Botswana.

2.1.1 Climate Extremes under climate change

Under climate change, changes in the mean climate may not necessarily imply a similar shift in the extremes of a particular climate variable. *Figure 2-1* depict the possible changes in extremes of temperature as a result of climate change. The same could be said of other climate variables



Figure 2-1: Possible changes in temperature distributions under climate change (a) Changed symmetry, (b) increased variability and (c) changed symmetry. Source (IPCC, 2012c)

such as precipitation (IPCC, 2012c). The possible changes include; (a) a shifted mean, (b) increased variability and (c) a symmetry of the changed entire distribution function of the variable. Most of the studies on extremes project with greater confidence significant changes in temperature extremes under global warming, whereas precipitation extreme changes are reported with a slightly lower confidence level (Seneviratne et al., 2012).

To study climate change, the Coupled Model Inter-comparison Project (CMIP) program has been instrumental in providing the necessary simulations to answer to questions posed by the research community; the fifth version (CMIP5) currently provides the latest model simulations (Taylor et al., 2012). Outputs from the CMIP5 program have been used extensively to study climate extremes both in the historical and future context (Sillmann et al., 2013a; Sillmann, et al., 2013b; Lewis and King, 2017; Wang et al., 2017). The choice of the RCP followed has been found to have relatively small impact on the changes in the climate extremes (Pendergrass et al., 2015; Shi et al., 2017). Lewis and King (2017) studied the evolution of regional temperature extremes under climate change based on the CMIP5's RCP8.5, an RCP that projects a 8.5 W/m^2 radiative forcing on the climate system by 2100. They describe increases in the ensemble averages of the daily mean (Tmean), maximum (Tmax) and minimum temperature (Tmin) across several regions around the globe. The same study describes an unclear trend in the annual temperature variance with increased variance of differing signs and magnitude at daily timescales further alluding to the changes described earlier by Seneviratne et al. (2012). Fischer et al. (2013), looking particularly at changes in annual temperature maxima and minima (TXx and TNn), five-day accumulated precipitation (TX5day) and number of consecutive dry days (CDD) in precipitation extremes at individual grid points, found a shift towards warming of cold and hot temperature extremes with widespread changes in the precipitation extremes. Razavi et al. (2016) found localized increasing trends in most of the ETCCDI indices including those of precipitation over Hamilton, Canada while Pinto et al. (2016) focusing on precipitation extremes in Southern Africa describes decreases in annual mean precipitation with increases in extreme events. The regional changes in climate extremes, both observed and projected, in literature show the specificity of the changes to different regions. More in-depth analysis at regional and sub-regional spatial scales are therefore needed across the various regions of the world to allow for a more comprehensive understanding of the dynamics in different geographical locations.

2.1.2 Climate Extremes under 1.5 and 2.0 °C warming

More recently, there has been an increased interest on the differential impacts of 1.5 and 2.0 °C warming above pre-industrial levels (e.g. James et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2017). There still exists a gap in assessing these differential impacts, especially at regional or country level scales, and particularly in developing countries. Using the Community Earth System Model (CESM), with simulations that stabilize pathways at GMST 1.5 and 2.0 °C temperatures above preindustrial levels, Sanderson et al. (2017) found the occurrence of global temperature extremes simulated to be 45-55% higher than the 1976-2005 historical levels in a 1.5 °C warmer world compared to

a 70-80% increase in a 2.0 °C warmer world. Precipitation extreme events exceeding the 99th percentile of daily precipitation were found to increase by 7-8% in a 1.5 °C compared to 13-15% in a 2.0 °C warmer climate.

Regionally, for Australia, King et al. (2017) using CMIP5 projections describes a 26% increment in extreme heat events when moving from a 1.5 to a 2.0 °C warmer climate. They project that coral reef heat stress events that cause widespread coral bleaching will be 22% more frequent in a 2.0 °C warmer climate than in a 1.5 °C warmer climate. On extreme wet precipitation events, the study did not find any significant change, whereas precipitation deficits would become slightly more frequent in a warmer world compared to today. In China, temperature extremes were found to increase significantly as the GMST increases from 1.5 to 2.0 °C (Shi et al., 2017); warm days were expected to increase by 7.5 and 13% at 1.5 and 2.0 °C relative to 1986-2005 levels, while precipitation extremes are expected to also increase by about 7 and 11% at 1.5 and 2.0 °C respectively relative to 1986-2005 levels (Li et al., 2017).

2.1.3 Climate Extremes in Southern Africa

Climate change is also set to increase the frequency of extreme weather events in Africa, thereby increasing vulnerability of those already exposed and sensitive, especially impoverished communities in both rural and urban settings. Heavy precipitation, droughts and temperature variations define most of climate variability observed in Southern Africa (Richard et al., 2001; Kandji et al., 2006). Violent storms bringing heavy precipitation and associated flooding have been studied over the years (e.g., Cook et al., 2004; Reason and Keibel, 2004; Reason, 2007; Manhique et al., 2015; Moyo and Nangombe, 2015), these events had significant negative impacts on the livelihoods of the affected communities. Drought events and high temperature episodes that had widespread impacts in Southern Africa have also been studied (e.g., Richard et al., 2001; Rouault and Richard, 2005). These studies bring to attention the importance of understanding the various weather and climate extremes affecting livelihoods in the region.

Studies looking at the evolution of extremes derived from daily observations of meteorological variables in Southern Africa (New et al., 2006) and the West African Sahel (Mouhamed et al.,

2013) have detected statistically significant warming trends on temperature extremes while precipitation has not shown any statistically significant trends in the late 20th century. Similar sentiments were found by Touré Halimatou et al. (2017) when assessing the historical context of temperature and precipitation extremes in Mali. The IPCC (2013) describes confidence levels on the observed changes in some of the extreme indices across the globe; of the extremes, higher confidence levels are placed on the changes in temperature extremes over Southern Africa, whereas low confidence reported for precipitation extremes. Of the temperature extremes, New et al. (2006) reports a pattern of increasing trends in hot extremes and a decreasing trend in cold extremes with heat waves being observed to be on the increase from 1981-2015 (Ceccherini et al., 2017). The study found that the magnitude of the trend was greater in hot extremes compared to cold extremes. Considering projections of temperature extremes over the African continent, Dosio (2016) found a general increase in the number of warm days and nights towards the end of the 21st century with South Africa expected to see a 50-70% increase in the extremes across all seasons.

Precipitation extremes over Southern Africa as reported by New et al. (2006) did not show any significant trends over most of the stations used in the study. An indication of decreasing annual precipitation accompanied with increased intensity rainfall events was also observed (New et al., 2006). Kruger and Nxumalo (2017) when investigating the evolution of precipitation extremes over South Africa, also showed that most of the stations did not show any significant trends in most of the indices during the 1921-2015 period. The study also found a trend towards increasing intensity of rainfall (Kruger and Nxumalo, 2017).

Pinto et al. (2016) using dynamically downscaled multi-model ensemble projections of precipitation extremes at the end of the 21st century, describes significant changes in the indices with a decrease in total annual mean precipitation but increased magnitude of extreme precipitation events. The findings are consistent with the trends observed by New et al. (2006) as well as Kruger and Nxumalo (2017). The magnitude of change was found to be greater under the RCP8.5 than RCP4.5 pathway where median temperature increases of 2.4 and 4.9 °C above pre-industrial (1850-1875) levels are expected by 2100 (Rogelj et al., 2012).

2.1.4 Climate Extremes in Botswana

There is currently very limited literature on climates extremes and extreme events in Botswana. The African continent has seen an increase in heat waves over the last century (Ceccherini et al., 2017) with some related fatalities in Botswana (China.org.cn, 2016). According to a study by Moses (2017) that looked at the historical characteristics of heat waves in nine of Botswana's synoptic weather stations for the period 1959-2015, there is generally an increasing trend in the frequency and severity of heat waves. The study estimated four heat wave variables namely: mean severity, mean frequency, mean duration, and mean number of heat wave days from daily maximum temperature observations (Moses, 2017). In studying within season (December-February) Dry Spell Frequencies (DSF) over Southern Africa, Usman and Reason (2004) found mean dry spell occurrences ranging between about 3 pentads (5 days with <5mm of rainfall) in the northernmost part of the country to 13 pentads in the southwestern parts of Botswana, the bulk of the country noted as susceptible to summer drought. The study used Climate Prediction Centre Merged Analysis of Precipitation (CMAP) pentad data for the 1979/80 to 2001/02 rainfall seasons; positive trends in DSFs were found over most of Botswana signifying an increase in the summer drought over the period (Usman and Reason, 2004). The dry climate extremes have generally been associated with El Nino episodes (Nicholson et al., 2001). The increase in droughts and heat wave events has led to increased water shortages, even for wildlife (Williams, 2016). Juana et al. (2014) used a Social Accounting Matrix (SAM) to describe the tendency of drought to decrease economic output in many sectors of Botswana's economy. The highest reduction was found in agriculture and agriculture dependent industries leading to increased vulnerability in many communities as the general welfare decreased (Juana et al., 2014).

Though rainfall deficiencies are the more common form of rainfall extremes in Botswana, flood events do also occasionally occur (Tsheko, 2003; Statistics Botswana, 2016a). In analysing extreme wet and dry rainfall seasons over Botswana, Mberego (2017) found that during the wettest periods, there are two peaks of monthly precipitation with February being the most extreme. A number of extreme wet events studied have been associated with the negative ENSO phase, La Nina and anomalies in the south west Indian ocean (Washington and Preston, 2006). Some of the most extreme wet events have been associated with individual tropical cyclone events that make landfall over the subcontinent (Dyson and Van Heerden, 2001).

2.3. Climate Change Vulnerability in Botswana

According to ND-GAIN (2016), Botswana is ranked 93rd on the ND-Gain 2016 rankings, and within this overall ranking, is the 64th most vulnerable country. The overall rankings combine a country's vulnerability to climate change and other global changes, together with its resilience potential (Chen et al., 2015). Botswana is therefore among the most vulnerable countries, but has above average resilience potential, and has an urgent need to implement climate change adaptation measures. By 2011, a significant proportion (36%) of Botswana's population lived in rural areas where agro-pastoralism is the main livelihood source (Statistics Botswana, 2016b). With the agricultural sector being the most sensitive to the negative impacts of climate change (Kandji et al., 2006), vulnerability is set to increase as climate change comes in as an additional stressor to the many stressors that affect livelihoods that depend on this sector (Sallu et al., 2010; Bunting et al., 2013). Women in rural Botswana have been found to be the ones most vulnerable to the negative impacts brought in by climate change because of their heavy reliance on arable farming and veldt products that are threatened by climate change (Omari, 2010). Agricultural grain yields are expected to reduce considerably under climate change (Chipanshi et al., 2004). The likelihood of streamflow changes, with implications on surface water supply, is also expected to be affected by changing climatic factors under climate change (Batisani, 2011). In addition, climate change has also been found to impact the health (Tanser et al., 2003) and tourism sectors (Hambira and Saarinen, 2015).

The few regional studies in Botswana assessing vulnerability to climate change have found rainfall deficit, rainfall variability and high temperature extremes to be the main climate factors affecting vulnerability in Botswana (Batisani and Yarnal, 2010; Kgosikoma and Batisani, 2014; Masundire et al., 2016), thereby emphasising the need for an in-depth investigation of the potential changes in these extremes under climate change. This study focuses on extreme indices that relate directly to the factors outlined above.

2.4. Aim of the Study

There is indeed an increased interest and need to better understand the potential differentiated impacts of further warming to 1.5 and 2.0 °C above preindustrial levels. The need is even greater for developing countries that are most vulnerable and are already bearing the brunt of current climate change. It is also important that the evolution of climate extremes under climate change are better understood as it is by climate extremes that the impact of climate change is mostly realized. Botswana, as a country highly vulnerable to the impacts of climate change, needs to better understand the implications of further warming so that informed policies can be made to mitigate potential future impacts.

After considering the current socio-economic challenges due to climate variability in Botswana, the potential increase in climate extremes due to climate change and how they continue to negatively impact on the economy; the lack of research in the front of future climate extremes, especially at the different levels of warming above preindustrial levels, this study therefore aims to:

Assess the magnitude of changes in temperature and precipitation extremes under different levels of GMST warming above preindustrial and present day levels

CHAPTER 3. STUDY AREA: BOTSWANA'S GEOGRAPHICAL SETTING

3.1. Geographical Location and Topography

Botswana is a relatively flat, landlocked country located at the heart of Southern Africa bounded by the 18-27S latitudes and 20-30E longitudes. The country shares borders with South Africa to the south, Namibia to the west, Zambia to the north and Zimbabwe to the north east (*Figure 3-1*). The population of Botswana is just over 2 million with the majority dwelling along the eastern corridor where most of economic activity takes place because of good transport networks and location of major cities, towns and villages (Statistics Botswana, 2016b).



Figure 3-1: Botswana's geographical positioning in Africa (top right) and topography. Source (Mapsland, 2017)

3.2. Climate

Botswana's climate is largely semi-arid to arid with the Kalahari Desert covering over 80% of all land area. Aridity generally increases from the southwest to the north of the country. The southwestern parts of Botswana receive mean annual rainfall accumulations of below 250mm up to 650mm in the northernmost parts, and a secondary maximum of 550mm in southeast Botswana (Bhalotra, 1987). The rainy season occurs in austral summer (mainly November to March). Temperatures in Botswana are lowest during the austral winter and highest during the austral summer. In winter, the occasional passing of westerly cold frontal systems can cause minimum temperatures to fall to below freezing resulting in frosts over most parts of the country (Andringa, 1984). The lowest of temperatures are experienced in the southern most parts of the country while the northern most parts of the country have slightly warmer winters. Moses (2017), using temperature data from 1959-2015, found mean summer daily maximum temperatures to be 31.1-33.0 °C for synoptic weather stations in the northernmost parts of Botswana, 30.9-31.3 °C in central Botswana and 33.0 °C in southwestern Botswana (cf. Figure 4-2). Summer temperatures are characterised by occasional heat waves with temperatures reaching over 42.0 °C and lasting up to 10 days on average in some places; trends in the various heat wave variables investigated to date were positive indicating an increase over the period 1959-2015 (Moses, 2017). In 2016, several maximum temperature records were broken with temperatures reaching up to 44.0 °C in Maun (BOPA, 2016).

The subsiding limb of the Hadley cell defines most of the climate in Botswana, with a semipermanent high pressure system (Botswana high) persistent over the region (Driver and Reason, 2017). Botswana's inter-annual climate variability is mainly driven by ENSO, where El-Nino events are associated with dry conditions (Nicholson et al., 2001) and La Nina events are associated with wet years (Mason and Jury, 1997). Rain bearing weather systems affecting the country include among others temperate tropical troughs (TTT) (Williams et al., 2007) and mesoscale convective systems(MCCs) (Blamey and Reason, 2012). These systems are mainly convection driven and associated with the southward movement of the Intertropical Convergence Zone (ITCZ) in the austral summer months (mainly November to March) (Bhalotra, 1987). Tropical depressions that form in the Indian Ocean also occasionally penetrate the subcontinent from the east, bringing along heavy precipitation (Reason and Keibel, 2004; Reason, 2007). Some heavy precipitation events could be a combination of various weather systems such as westerly troughs (cold fronts), tropical lows and ridging anticyclones creating a conducive environment for such events (Crimp and Mason, 1999). Cut off lows are also a common occurrence over the region, and tend to bring along heavy precipitation episodes that can cause flooding in some places in Southern Africa including Botswana (Singleton and Reason, 2007; Favre et al., 2013; Molekwa, 2013). Cut off lows also tend to be associated with extreme rainy days that fall outside of the normal rainy season (Favre et al., 2013).

As discussed earlier, dry spells within the rainy season are also a common occurrence in Botswana (Vossen, 1990), being more frequent during ENSO warm phases and over the south-western parts of the country (Usman and Reason, 2004). The national average annual rainfall trends (1971-2015) over the entire country show a decreasing trend, signifying a general drying over the country (Statistics Botswana, 2016b).

3.3. Botswana's Social and Economic Setting

A large percentage of Botswana's population is located in the eastern, less arid, parts of the country where most of the urban centres and major villages occur. Because of the relatively flat landscape, all of Botswana's major dams are located in the eastern parts of the country in the Limpopo river basin, the only area where topography allows for suitable dam sites (DWA, 2013). The bulk of the rural population therefore relies on underground water sources (Omari, 2010b). Though over 60% of the population dwell in the urban and major villages, small scale agriculture is still the main source of livelihoods for the majority of the rural population and major village dwellers accounting for about 70% of the population's livelihood (Setshwaelo, 2001; Omari, 2010b). Large scale commercial agriculture is still at its infancy although some areas have been identified as potential hubs for commercial farming. The Pandamatenga farms in the Chobe (north of the country) are the biggest in terms of land allocated, followed by the Borolong and Ngwaketse farms in the southern district (Statistics Botswana, 2015). Low rainfall and poor soils

make arable farming unviable over the western half of the country. The dominant economic activities in this area are therefore agro-pastoralism and tourism with large chunks of land being reserved for national parks and game reserves. Even though small stock farming in the south west accounts for only 2% of the total small stock population in Botswana (Statistics Botswana, 2015), it still remains the main source of livelihood in the region (Kgosikoma and Batisani, 2014).

Tourism is mainly confined over the northernmost parts of the country which is endowed with abundant wildlife. The Okavango Delta in the north west of the country is the main tourist attraction. The delta receives most of its water from the Okavango River that has its catchment over Angola. Though there is abundant water supply in the region, agricultural activity is limited mainly because of human-wildlife conflicts (Moswete and Dube, 2013). Water abstraction from the delta is also restricted to villages around the delta making commercial irrigated farming difficult (DWA, 2013).

Botswana has performed relatively well in efforts to meet the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) (United Nations, 2015). Significant progress was made in the goal to eradicate extreme poverty and hunger, access to universal primary education, child mortality reduction and combating HIV/AIDS, malaria and other diseases by the year 2015. Of interest is the slowness of the country to integrate principles of sustainable development into country policies, with limited awareness on the subject of global warming by both the public and the private sector leading poor uptake of policies promoting sustainable development (United Nations, 2015).

CHAPTER 4. DATA AND METHODOLOGY

This section has been directly cut from the equivalent section of the journal article published in ERL. The paper is attached as an Appendix. The section presents the data used in the study, how the data was processed and the methods used to analyse the data.

4.1. **Data**

The expert Team on Climate Change Detection and Indices (ETCCDI) temperature and precipitation extreme indices derived from the fifth version of the Coupled Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP5) program participating models were analyzed. A total of 24 CMIP5 Global Climate Model (GCM) outputs developed by Sillmann et al. (2013a) (Table S1), were downloaded from KNMI Climate Explorer website database, https://climexp.knmi.nl (Trouet and Van Oldenborgh, 2013). Where a model had more than one ensemble member, only the first member of the ensemble is chosen. The impact of internal variability of the individual participating models is therefore not captured in the current analysis. All the indices are available re-gridded to a common spatial resolution of $2.5^{\circ} \times 2.5^{\circ}$ from their native model resolutions (Sillmann et al., 2013b). Historical simulations (1861-2005) combined with the high emissions scenario Representative Concentration Pathway that projects an 8.5 W/m² radiative forcing on the climate system by 2100 (RCP8.5) (Taylor et al., 2012) are chosen for analysis. This RCP is chosen as the forcing is sufficiently intense to guarantee all models reach a warming of 2.0 °C by the end of their simulations. Furthermore, it is most representative of current forcing trends (Lewis and King, 2017). As described below, we analyze indices from individual models at the time they reach specific global temperature targets (1.0, 1.5 and 2.0 °C), so the forcing scenario is not particularly important. Additionally, Pendergrass et al. (2015) and Shi et al. (2017) have shown that, in general, changes in climate extremes are indistinguishable across different RCPs when using multi-model ensembles; although Wang et al. (2017) shows that differences in regional aerosol emissions do produce differences in projected changes over high emission areas (not Southern Africa).

This study focuses on extreme indices that relate directly to climate change vulnerability in Botswana *(Table 4-1)* as determined from a review of vulnerability to climate in semi-arid countries of Southern Africa (Spear et al., 2015). Rainfall deficit, rainfall variability and high temperature extremes have been found to be the main climate factors driving vulnerability (Batisani and Yarnal, 2010; Omari, 2010; Kgosikoma and Batisani, 2014; Masundire et al., 2016). PRCPTOT relates to annual rainfall deficits, R99P, R95P, RX1DAY, RX5DAY, R20MM and R10MM, ALTCWD heavy rainfall extremes and ALTCDD dry periods. For temperature derived indices, the WSDI is used to relate the potential impact of continuous high temperature instances (heat waves as defined by Moses (2017)). The TN90P, TN10P, TX10P and TN10P are also included to help in defining the potential impact of individual hot and cold events (Klein Tank et al., 2009).

Table 4-1: Temperature and precipitation climate extreme indices relevant to vulnerability assessment inBotswana. The indices are available from the KNMI Climate Explorer website [http://climexp.knmi.nl]

Symbol	Name	Units								
Precipitation Indices										
PRCPTOT	Annual Total Precipitation in Wet Days	mm/yr								
ALTCDD	Maximum Number of Consecutive Days Per Year with Less Than 1mm of Precipitation	days								
ALTCWD	Maximum Number of Consecutive Days Per Year with At Least 1mm of Precipitation	days								
RX1DAY	Annual Maximum 1-day Precipitation	mm/dy								
RX5DAY	Annual Maximum 5-day Precipitation	mm/5dy								
R99P	Annual Total Precipitation when Daily Precipitation Exceeds the 99th Percentile of Wet Day Precipitation	mm/yr								
R95P	Annual Total Precipitation when Daily Precipitation Exceeds the 95th Percentile of Wet Day Precipitation	mm/yr								
R20MM	Annual Count of Days with At Least 20mm of Precipitation	days								
R10MM	Annual Count of Days with At Least 10mm of Precipitation	days								
	Temperature Indices									
ТХ90Р	Percentage of Days when Daily Maximum Temperature is Above the 90th Percentile	%								
ТN90Р	Percentage of Days when Daily Minimum Temperature is Above the 90th Percentile	%								
TX10P	Percentage of Days when Daily Minimum Temperature is Below the 10th Percentile	%								
TN10P	Percentage of Days when Daily Minimum Temperature is Below the 10th Percentile	%								
WSDI	Maximum Number of Consecutive Days Per Year when Daily Maximum Temperature is Above the 90 th Percentile	days								

4.2. Methodology

A 40 year (1861-1900) base period for the preindustrial era was defined from which the changes in extreme indices are compared following Huang et al. (2017). The years at which each participating model reaches 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0 °C global warming above preindustrial levels is defined using a time sampling method initially used by Kaplan and New (2006) and applied by Zaroug et al. (in review). The 1.0 °C temperature warming above preindustrial is used to represent the current climate (warming to date, from preindustrial) given the GMST reached 1.1 °C in 2016 (WMO, 2017). A 31-year running mean is applied to the entire time-series for each model ensemble member. The climatology at a given GMST warming above pre-industrial is defined by a 30 year period centred at the year the running mean reaches the GMST of interest. *Figure 4-1* shows the spread of the years the participating models reach 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0 °C warming above preindustrial levels.



Years Ensemble Members Reach Warming above Pre-industrial levels

Figure 4-1: Timing of when participating ensemble members reach GMST of 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0 °C warming above the 1861-1900 preindustrial baseline period following the RCP8.5 emissions scenario pathway

Monthly means of observed climate for 1979-2013 from the WATCH Forcing Data methodology applied to ERA-Interim data (WFDEI) (Weedon et al., 2014) was used to cluster Botswana into 3 regions of homogeneous rainfall *(Figure 4-2)*. The WFDEI dataset was found to simulate precipitation well over southern Africa (Li et al., 2013) and has been used in a number of studies in Sub Saharan Africa (Andersson et al., 2016; Nkiaka et al., 2017). Shapefiles of Botswana and the three regions were created using ArcGIS and used to extract the gridded sub-sets of the indices over each region, and the whole country.



Figure 4-2: Mean annual precipitation (1979-2013) in mm over Botswana derived from the WFDEI dataset and the 3 regions of homogeneous monthly rainfall in Botswana (Region 1, 2 and 3)

Area-weighted average climatological means of the indices at a given GMST warming above preindustrial levels were calculated within the subsets and used to determine the change relative to pre-industrial levels. For all the 24 members, the change for each extreme index relative to preindustrial levels is calculated as;

$$\Delta I = I_n - I_0 \tag{1}$$

where I_n , $n \in \{1.0, 1.5 \text{ and } 2.0\}$ represents the area averaged climatological mean calculated from the 31-year period surrounding the date of GMST, and I_0 is the area averaged climatological mean of the index of interest for 1861-1900 preindustrial times. Box-and-whisker plots of the absolute changes for each climate extreme index are plotted spanning the 24-member ensemble for each for the 3 regions and over the country areal average.

The non-parametric Wilcoxon Paired Signed Rank test (WPSR) is applied to test if the distributions of ensembles of the indices at 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0 °C are statistically significantly different from preindustrial levels, and from each other. This test has been used in previous climate studies looking to determine the significance of changes in various climate indices/variables at different warming levels (Kharin et al., 2013; Sillmann et al., 2013b). To determine whether the models agree on the sign of change, a criterion that at least 75% of the members need to agree on the sign was adopted (Sillmann et al., 2013b; Pinto et al., 2016).

CHAPTER 5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

This section is taken from the results section of the paper published in ERL. The paper is attached as an appendix.

Results are presented in box-and-whisker plot format representing the ensemble spread for the change in the indices relative to the preindustrial baseline period. Changes are presented first for precipitation extreme indices followed by temperature extreme indices. From the plots, the ensemble median, interquartile range (IQR) and the outliers are represented. Ensemble member values that exceed 1.5xIQR are considered to be outliers. The box-and-whisker plots are made for each of the 3 regions (*Figure 4-2*) and the country average. Results obtained from testing model agreement on the sign of change are summarized in *Table S2* while *Table S3* summarizes the median [IQR] changes in both of the precipitation and temperature indices relative to preindustrial levels. WPSR test results are presented using p-values.

5.1. Precipitation Extremes Changes

Changes in the precipitation indices at 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0 °C GMST warming above preindustrial levels indicate a progressive drying across Botswana, accompanied by an increase in heavy precipitation events, reduced wet spell events and increased dry spells (*Figure 5-1*). The country average ensemble median change for total annual precipitation, PRCPTOT at 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0 °C GMST warming above preindustrial levels indicate a reduction of 13.4, 33.4 and 63.4 mm/yr with the most extreme reductions (0th percentile) at 175.0, 187.0 and 192.0 mm/yr respectively (*Figure 5-1a*). Of the 3 regions, Region 1 representing the northern and wettest parts of the country has the largest median reduction across the 3 warming periods with reductions of 20.2, 55.1 and 75.9 mm/yr respectively (these are also the largest relative reductions, compared to preindustrial mean precipitation; see *Figure S1a*). This region, as opposed to the rest of the country tends to be the one that receives most of its rainfall when the ITCZ shifts south in austral summer. The stabilizing and equatorial-ward shifting of the mean position of the ITCZ under climate change could therefore be the reason behind the reduction (Giannini et al., 2008). Region

3 has the least reductions (10.0-43.0mm) in total annual precipitation, because of its already low annual precipitation totals *(Figure 4-2)*; relative reductions are much larger *(Figure 51a)*. When testing for model agreement on change of sign, the change in PRCPTOT at 2.0 °C is the only one that shows consensus among models with >75% of the ensemble members projecting a reduction across all regions. Taking the country average, 58.3% of the models project a decrease in PRCPTOT at 1.0 °C, 62.5% at 1.5 °C and 83.3% at 2.0 °C GMST above preindustrial levels *(Table S2)*. WPSR test results show that the change in PRCPTOT between the three levels of warming is statistically significant across all regions, except for 1.0 versus 1.5 for a couple of the regions. An additional 0.5 °C increment in GMST from 1.5 and 2.0 °C therefore has significant impacts on the annual precipitation across the country. We note that PRCPTOT is not strictly a climate extreme, but it is included in climate extreme studies as total annual precipitation is a measure of interannual drought, and has implications on various economic sectors especially in water stressed countries like Botswana.

Changes in the number of consecutive dry days (ALTCDD) (*Figure 5-1b*) show statistically significant increases across all regions for all warming levels. ALTCDD median increases of 7.2, 13.5 and 18.7 days for the 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0 °C warming levels respectively are projected for Region 1, these being the largest of the changes. On average, Botswana is projected to realise median increases of 5.7, 10.4 and 17.8 days in ALTCDD under the respective warmings. There is general consensus on the sign of change of ALTCDD across ensemble members with more than 80% of members depicting an increase across the three warming periods over the entire country. The increases in ALTCDD imply longer dry seasons with late onsets and early cessation of rainfall as pointed out by Pinto et al. (2016), the same having been noted by Sillmann et al. (2013b). Median changes in the number of consecutive wet days (ALTCWD) are generally very small in magnitude (*Figure 5-1c*). Relative to preindustrial levels, median changes at 1.0 °C warming are for a decrease of 0.21 days (approximately 5 hours) in Region 1 while Region 2 and 3 show median increases of up to a couple of hours. On average, an additional 0.5 °C warming to 1.5 and 2.0 °C reduces ALTCWD by about half a day. The reductions in ALTCWD may be small in magnitude but are very significant given the short-lived and convective nature of rain bearing weather systems

in Botswana. The shorter rainfall seasons described by increases in ALTCDD coupled with potentially shorter wet-spells will have serious implications on various economic sectors with the agricultural sector set to suffer the most.

For the heavy precipitation indices, the projected ensemble median changes in total accumulated precipitation from heavy (R95P) and very heavy (R99P) precipitation days are a small, but generally non-significant increase as the climate system warms further (*Figure 5-1d,e*). For R99P, the changes are mostly significant between the three warming levels in Regions 1 and 2, but not in Region 3. The ensemble spread generally disagrees on the sign of change for R95P, but there is more agreement for R99P, especially at the 1.5 and 2.0 °C warming levels.

Median changes in one day and five-day maximum precipitation (RX1DAY and RX5DAY) show a general increase across all regions as the models progress to warmer climates. These changes are generally statistically significant over the wetter and semi-arid Regions 1 and 2, but not in Region 3 (*Figure 5-1f,g*). These results slightly contradict the findings by Sillmann et al. (2013b) who concluded that there is a general decrease (though statistically insignificant) in RX5DAY in Southern Africa when looking at the changes for the period 2081-2100 relative to 1981-2000. Pinto et al. (2016)'s findings using downscaled projections over Southern Africa are consistent with our results, though they looked at the changes for 2069-2098 relative to the 1976-2005 period. Changes in the frequency of very heavy (R20MM) rainfall events do not show any significant changes, while the frequency of moderately heavy rainfall events (R10MM) show statistically significant decreases across all regions (*Figure 5-1h,i*).



Figure 5-1: Box and whisker plots showing the changes in extreme precipitation indices across an ensemble of 24 participating model members. The changes are at 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0 °C above preindustrial levels (1861-1900). P-values from the WPSR test are shown: P_0 , P_1 and P_2 compares the ensemble spread of 1.0 to 1.5 °C, 1.5 to 2.0 °C and 1.0 to 2.0 °C warmer climate regimes respectively

To investigate whether biases inherent in climate models especially in simulating accumulated precipitation may influence the results, box-and-whisker plots of percentage changes in the total annual precipitation (PRCPTOT), one day maximum precipitation (RX1day) and the five day maximum accumulated precipitation (RX5DAY) relative to industrial levels are also plotted *(Figure S1).* Similar results to those obtained using absolute changes were found. An exception was that P₀ for PRCPTOT in Region 2 decreases from 0.117 when using absolute changes to 0.097 when using percentage changes *(Figure S1a).* The difference suggests that the change in PRCPTOT between the current climate and 1.5 °C are significantly different in Region 2. This could be because of the aridity in Region 2 meaning small percentage changes in total annual precipitation make a significant difference.

5.2. Temperature Extremes Changes

The changes in temperature indices agree strongly on the signs of change across the all indices (*Figure 5-2 and Table S2*). P-values for temperature derived indices obtained from the WPSR test are all very small (<0.001) across all regions and warming levels above preindustrial levels. The p-values here imply that the changes in these indices are statistically significant across all warming levels.

Of the percentile based indices, the hot day and hot night extremes, TX90P (*Figure 5-2a*) and TN90P (*Figure 5-2b*) show the greatest changes, though the change is more pronounced for TN90P especially over Region 1. TX90P is projected to increase by 30% above preindustrial levels on average in Botswana when the climate system reaches 2.0 °C, an increment of 10% from 1.5 °C levels. For TN90P the average increase at 2.0 °C is even higher, at 35%. Decreases in cold day and night extremes, TX10P (*Figure 5-2c*) and TN10P (*Figure 5-2d*), occur over the entire country with minimum temperature based extremes showing the larger reductions. Hot nights and mild winters are therefore expected to become a common occurrence with a warming climate leading to a decrease in frost occurrences. An increase in warm spells (heat waves; WSDI) are projected across all regions, by 80 days compared to preindustrial levels at 2.0 °C for Region 1, and by 65 and 62 days for Region 2 and 3 (*Figure 5-2e*). Relating to findings by Moses (2017), the increases

in TX90P and WSDI suggest a significant increase in heat wave events across the country. We note here the need to look at these indices seasonally as an opportunity for further investigation (Sillmann et al., 2013b); we further note that the WSDI does not consider the intensity of heat waves, as pointed out by Dosio (2016).



Figure 5-2: Box and whisker plots showing the changes in extreme temperature indices across an ensemble of 24 participating model members. The changes are at 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0 °C above preindustrial levels (1861-1900). P-values from the WPSR test are shown: P0, P1 and P₂ compares the ensemble spread of 1.0 to 1.5 °C, 1.5 to 2.0 °C and 1.0 to 2.0 °C warmer climate regimes respectively

5.3. Implications for Vulnerability to Climate Change in Botswana

This section is taken from the equivalent section of a paper under consideration with ERL journal. It discusses the potential implications of the changes in the climate extremes to key sectors that are expected to be highly impacted. The agricultural sector is set to be the one to suffer the most followed by the water and the health sectors. The implications are discussed first for the agricultural sector, followed by the water sector and finally the health sector.

The projected changes in both temperature and precipitation extremes under warming climates are expected to have significant negative implications on the agricultural sector The majority of Botswana's population is highly reliant on rain-fed agriculture for livelihoods, so these changes in extremes are likely to produce severe impacts, especially on the most vulnerable, women (Omari, 2010a). Many crops suffer sharp drops on yield after periods of cumulative heat stress (e.g., Schlenker et al., (2010)). The large increases in temperature extremes projected for Botswana, as one moves from 1.5 to 2.0 °C, suggest potentially large, and growing impacts on crops that are currently farmed, such as maize (Barnabás et al., 2008), significantly reducing yields. Previous studies show that Botswana's crop production will be among the most impacted of the countries in Africa (Chipanshi et al., 2004; Schlenker and Lobell, 2010). These impacts will be exacerbated, particularly for rain-fed agriculture, with the projected decreases in mean rainfall and longer dry spells causing plant water stress, crossing the tipping point between good and average harvests, and complete agricultural failure (Batisani and Yarnal, 2010). More intense rainfall will potentially cause crop damage and lower soil moisture. These multiple impacts warn of a growing adaptation challenge as the climate warms, requiring more heat- and droughttolerant varieties to be developed or adopted. The options for expanding irrigated agriculture are small, apart from perhaps the North West of the country in the Okavango basin, but this would involve trade-offs with biodiversity conservation and ecotourism in this unique wetland system. Livestock production is also likely to be negatively impacted as increased dry spells will

reduce pasture productivity (Setshwaelo, 2001; Mberego, 2017), compounded by inadequate adaptation strategies (Kgosikoma and Batisani, 2014).

Water resources are also likely to be heavily impacted negatively by the reduced total precipitation and increased intensity and longer dry spells, and greater evaporation under more extreme temperatures. Water stress is already a challenge with various economic sec- tors competing for the scarce resource; drought in 2014–2016 led to water-supply failure in the capital city, Gaborone (Siderius et al., 2018). For Region 3, in the south-western parts of the country where rain- fall is already low (annual accumulations of less than 300 mm), further reductions in rainfall imply increased pressure on the already stressed water sources (Siderius et al., 2018). The likelihood of streamflow changes with implications on surface water supply is also expected to be affected by changing climate extremes under climate change (Batisani, 2011). The increasing RX5DAY imply potential increase in very heavy rainfall events that could cause flooding and lead to economic losses (Tsheko, 2003). Though this is the case, some of these heavy rainfall events could come as a relief, replenishing stressed water resources. An example of such a case is the heavy downpours that came with post cyclone Dineo in February 2017 filling up the Gaborone dam that had run dry the previous year.

Looking at the health sector, climate sensitive diseases such as malaria will also be affected by the changes in climate extremes. As malaria epidemics thrive on wet and warmer climates, a general drying of the climate and shorter rainy seasons could lead to a reduction in the extent of the disease (Tanser et al., 2003). Tanser et al. (2003) also note that though for drier climates climate change leads to a reduction in malaria incidences, epidemics can rise during times of heavy precipitation in these generally dry climates (Huang et al., 2017). Based on the reasoning above, epidemics of malaria cases could also become a challenge as the climate systems warms to 2.0 °C. Other implications for health include increased chances of heat related mortalities as heat waves become a common occurrence, malnutrition due to reduced food supply as the agricultural sector is negatively impacted and direct mortalities and injuries from floods (McMichael et al., 2006).

These changes in extremes present a growing adaptation challenge between 1.5 and 2.0 °C for key economic sectors in the country. Rain-fed agriculture is already marginal, and the combined changes in heat extremes and decrease in moisture may well make current agricultural practices unviable at 1.5 or 2.0 °C warming. Botswana is already water-stressed and the projected decreases in mean annual rainfall, as well increased dry spell length, will escalate stress, leading to more frequent water shortages in today's urban and agricultural supply systems. While further work is needed to better quantify the impacts, and resultant costs of adaptation, at these different levels of global mean warming, our results suggest that, for a climate-stressed country such as Botswana, even small increments in global mean temperature have serious societal consequences that will demand progressively more radical adaptation responses.

CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSIONS

There is limited understanding on the potential differentiated impact further warming to 1.5 and 2.0 °C above preindustrial levels will have on the natural environment, socio economic activities and ultimately on human livelihoods. Vulnerable communities in developing countries including Botswana are expected to suffer the most from continued climate change due to global warming. Given that climate extremes are key drivers of vulnerability to climate change impacts and are expected to increase as the climate system warms further, in this study, the evolution of precipitation and temperature extreme indices relevant to climate change vulnerability in Botswana are investigated under current, 1.5 and 2.0 °C warming above preindustrial levels. The main findings of the study are outlined below.

6.1. Key Results

Botswana is projected to experience significant increases in both temperature and rainfall extremes as GMST increases from 1.0 °C through 1.5 to 2.0 °C above preindustrial levels. The changes are particularly strong for temperature extremes; for each increment of global warming, temperature extremes are statistically different, indicating markedly different future regional climates over Botswana. Similarly, there is a statistically significant decrease projected for mean

rainfall and dry-spell length at each global temperature level. In contrast, although intense rainfall indices do show ensemble median increases, the spread in model results means that changes at each increment are not statistically distinguishable. The findings are consistent with studies that showed statistically significant increases in projected temperature derived extreme indices over Southern Africa (Sillmann et al., 2013b; Dosio, 2016) and significant decreases in annual precipitation and drought related indices while heavy precipitation indices show increases that are statistically insignificant (Sillmann et al., 2013b; Pinto et al., 2016).

This study aimed to quantify the relative difference in projected changes in climatic extremes under progressive warming from current to climate policy targets of 1.5 °C and 2.0 °C above preindustrial levels agreed on in the Paris accord of 2015. Changes in climate extreme indices relevant to climate change vulnerability in Botswana were investigated. The indices were obtained from an archive that derived them from models that participated in the CMIP5 project. Findings from this study reveal that Botswana is projected to experience a significant increase in climate extremes especially those of temperature. A significant decline in annual precipitation and shortening of the rainfall season is expected in Botswana as the climate system warms from the current 1.0 °C to warmer 1.5 and 2.0 °C GMST above preindustrial levels. The northern most parts of the country will see the greatest reduction in annual precipitation and increase in the length of the dry season. Very heavy precipitation incidences are projected to generally increase in a 2.0 °C warmer climate compared to the current and 1.5 °C though the increase has been found to be generally statistically insignificant especially over the Kgalagadi region which receives the least annual rainfall accumulations. Heat waves are projected to increase significantly over the entire country as WSDI increases with further warming above current levels. As has been concluded by various studies looking at the evolution of climate extremes, changes in temperature extremes are more pronounced compared to precipitation extremes. The changes in the extremes have been found to have significant implications on various socioeconomic sectors in Botswana with the agricultural and the water sector set to be the most affected.

6.2. Limitations, Future Work and Recommendations

This study uses outputs from GCMs that are of low spatial resolution (of order 2.5 degrees latitude and longitude). This therefore does not allow for the inclusion of local topographical features and processes that could influence the evolution of the extremes, and for precipitation, does not resolve some dynamical meteorological processes that cause extremes, such a tropical depressions and convection. Time constraints made it difficult to employ downscaling methods which could have been of added value to the outcomes of the study.

The study also only looked at extremes at annual timescales which limits the depth of understanding in the projected changes of some of the indices, as noted by Sillmann et al. (2017). More detailed analysis could evaluate extremes on a seasonal basis, although this requires accessing and processing of CMIP5 daily data, which was again not possible within the time limits of this research project. The use of CMIP5's RCP8.5 model outputs means that the climates at 1.5 and 2.0 °C warming are realised in a transient warming phase that could have an influence on the results compared to if an equilibrium state were attained (Sanderson et al., 2017). Comparison of results obtained from the different equilibrium states could help ascertain the credibility of the results obtained in this study.

This study has been conducted using GCM derived data without any background analysis of the current state of climate extremes in Botswana. An analysis of the historical context of climate extremes, derived from either observations, re-gridded or reanalysis datasets in Botswana is recommended. It is also recommended that the study be expanded and conducted at finer temporal and spatial resolutions by applying downscaling methodologies and estimating the indices at sub-annual timescales. This recommendation is conferred given that most climate extremes happen at seasonal, monthly and daily to sub-daily timescales (Sillmann et al., 2017) and that some are season dependent (Dosio, 2016).

The use of climate impact models that incorporate together climate, population, economic and socio economic projections have been found to provide more useful and sector relevant results that can be used to provide better policy advice (Schiermeier, 2012). A possibility of expanding

this study to use impact models could be fitting to provide a sector-oriented impacts of the climate extremes at the respective warming levels above preindustrial levels. Examples include: hydrological models for impacts of potential increased flooding events and water flow into dams; crop models to simulate crop responses to drought, flood and heat extremes; models that can simulate impacts on human health (heat stress, advances in climate related diseases such as malaria) would be a welcome development. Examples of such projects include the Modelling the Impact of Climate Extremes (MICE) project undertaken in the European Union (Hanson et al., 2007) and the Inter-Sectoral Impact Model Intercomparison Project (ISIMIP) project (Frieler et al., 2017).

The projected increase in climate extreme indices does have some serious implications for some of Botswana's key socio-economic sectors. Since the agricultural and water sectors are expected to suffer the most, this study recommends a call for different stakeholders in Botswana to work towards adapting to the current and expected challenges. It is noted that concerted efforts need to be made to increase adoption of Climate Smart Agriculture practices, strategic planning for future water security, encouraging water saving measures as well as looking to promote rain water capture as measures to mitigate future impacts. It is further recommended that investments in climate change research be intensified to increase the country's knowledge base on climate change thereby promoting informed policy formulation.

CHAPTER 7. **REFERENCES**

Abiodun, B.J., Abba Omar, S., Lennard, C. & Jack, C. 2016. Using regional climate models to simulate extreme rainfall events in the Western Cape, South Africa. *International Journal of Climatology*. 36(2):689–705. DOI: 10.1002/joc.4376.

Akinyemi, F.O. 2017. Climate Change and Variability in Semiarid Palapye, Eastern Botswana: An Assessment from Smallholder Farmers' Perspective. *Weather, Climate, and Society*. 9(3):349–365. DOI: 10.1175/WCAS-D-16-0040.1.

Alexander, L. V. & Arblaster, J.M. 2017. Historical and projected trends in temperature and precipitation extremes in Australia in observations and CMIP5. *Weather and Climate Extremes*. 15(January):34–56. DOI: 10.1016/j.wace.2017.02.001.

Alexander, L. V., Zhang, X., Peterson, T.C., Caesar, J., Gleason, B., Klein Tank, A.M.G., Haylock, M., Collins, D., et al. 2006. Global observed changes in daily climate extremes of temperature and precipitation. *Journal of Geophysical Research Atmospheres*. 111(5):1–22. DOI: 10.1029/2005JD006290.

Andersson, J.C.M., Ali, A., Arheimer, B., Gustafsson, D. & Minoungou, B. 2017. Providing peak river flow statistics and forecasting in the Niger River basin. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C*. 100:3–12. DOI: 10.1016/j.pce.2017.02.010.

Andringa, J. 1984. The climate of Botswana in histograms. *Botswana Notes and Records*. 16(1):117–125. Available:

http://journals.co.za/docserver/fulltext/botnotes/16/1/748.pdf?expires=1512601715&id=id&a ccname=guest&checksum=C606DC53AD270E341F433DF0D3E11203 [2017, December 07].

Arnell, N.W., Lowe, J.A., Lloyd-Hughes, B. & Osborn, T.J. 2017. The impacts avoided with a 1.5°C climate target: a global and regional assessment. *Climatic Change*. (December, 6):1–16. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-017-2115-9.

ASC. 2016. UK Climate Change Risk Assessment 2017 Synthesis Report: priorities for the next five years. London: Adaptation Sub-Committee of the Committee on Climate Change. Available: https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/UK-CCRA-2017-Synthesis-Report-Committee-on-Climate-Change.pdf.

Barnabás, B., Jäger, K. & Fehér, A. 2007. The effect of drought and heat stress on reproductive processes in cereals. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. 31(0):071030190532001–??? DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-3040.2007.01727.x.

Batisani, N. 2011. Spatio-temporal ephemeral streamflow as influenced by climate variability in Botswana. *Journal of Geographical Sciences*. 21(3):417–428. DOI: 10.1007/s11442-011-0854-5.

Batisani, N. & Yarnal, B. 2010. Rainfall variability and trends in semi-arid Botswana: Implications for climate change adaptation policy. *Applied Geography*. 30(4):483–489. DOI:

10.1016/j.apgeog.2009.10.007.

Betts, R.A., Collins, M., Hemming, D.L., Jones, C.D., Lowe, J.A. & Sanderson, M.G. 2011. When could global warming reach 4°C? *Philosophical transactions. Series A, Mathematical, physical, and engineering sciences*. 369(1934):67–84. DOI: 10.1098/rsta.2010.0292.

Bhalotra, Y.P.R. 1987. *Climate of Botswana, part II: Elements of Climate*. Gaborone, Botswana.

Blamey, R.C. & Reason, C.J.C. 2012. Mesoscale convective complexes over Southern Africa. *Journal of Climate*. 25(2):753–766. DOI: 10.1175/JCLI-D-10-05013.1.

BOPA. 2016. Botswana: Heat Wave Breaks Maximum Temperature Records - allAfrica.com.BotswanaDailyNews(Gaborone).11January.Available:http://allafrica.com/stories/201601112526.html [2017, December 07].

Bunting, E., Steele, J., Keys, E., Muyengwa, S., Child, B. & Southworth, J. 2013. Local Perception of Risk to Livelihoods in the Semi-Arid Landscape of Southern Africa. *Land.* 2(2):225–251. DOI: 10.3390/land2020225.

Ceccherini, G., Russo, S., Ameztoy, I., Francesco Marchese, A. & Carmona-Moreno, C. 2017. Heat waves in Africa 1981-2015, observations and reanalysis. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*. 17(1):115–125. DOI: 10.5194/nhess-17-115-2017.

Chen, C., Noble, I., Hellmann, J., Coffee, J., Murillo, M. & Chawla, N. 2015. *University of Notre Dame Global Adaptation Index Country Index Technical Report*. Notre Dame, USA. Available: http://index.gain.org/about/reference.

China.org.cn. 2016. *Heat wave kills 3 in southeastern Botswana*. Available: http://www.china.org.cn/world/Off_the_Wire/2016-01/09/content_37536522.htm [2017, July 26].

Chipanshi, A.C., Chanda, R. & Totolo, O. 2003. Vulnerability Assessment of the Maize and Sorghum Crops to Climate Change in Botswana. *Climatic Change*. 61(3):339–360. DOI: 10.1023/B:CLIM.0000004551.55871.eb.

Clark, R.T., Murphy, J.M. & Brown, S.J. 2010. Do global warming targets limit heatwave risk? *Geophysical Research Letters*. 37(17):L17703. DOI: 10.1029/2010GL043898.

Climate Action Tracker. 2017. Improvement in warming outlook as India and China move ahead, but Paris Agreement gap still looms large. Available: http://climateactiontracker.org/assets/publications/briefing_papers/CAT_2017-11-15_Improvement-in-warming-outlook.pdf.

Cook, C., Reason, C.J.C. & Hewitson, B.C. 2004. Wet and dry spells within particularly wet and dry summers in the South African summer rainfall region. *Climate Research*. 26(1):17–31. DOI: 10.3354/cr026017.

Crimp, S.J. & Mason, S.J. 1999. The Extreme Precipitation Event of 11 to 16 February 1996 over South Africa. *Meteorology and Atmospheric Physics*. 70(1–2):29–42. DOI: 10.1007/s007030050023.

Dosio, A. 2016. Projection of temperature and heat waves for Africa with an ensemble of CORDEX Regional Climate Models. *Climate Dynamics*. 49(1):1–27. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-016-3355-5.

Driver, P. & Reason, C.J.C. 2017. Variability in the Botswana High and its relationships with rainfall and temperature characteristics over southern Africa. *International Journal of Climatology*. 37:570–581. DOI: 10.1002/joc.5022.

DWA. 2013. Botswana Integrated Water Resources Management & Water Efficiency Plan. Gaborone.

Dyson, L. & Van Heerden, J. 2001. The heavy rainfall and floods over the northeastern interior of South Africa during February 2000. *South African Journal of Science*. 97:80–86.

Easterling, D.R., Alexander, L. V., Mokssit, A. & Detemmerman, V. 2003. CCI/CLIVAR workshop to develop priority climate indices. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*. 84(10):1403–1407+1329. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-84-10-1403.

Favre, A., Hewitson, B., Lennard, C., Cerezo-Mota, R. & Tadross, M. 2013. Cut-off Lows in the South Africa region and their contribution to precipitation. *Climate Dynamics*. 41(9–10):2331–2351. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-012-1579-6.

Fischer, E.M., Beyerle, U. & Knutti, R. 2013. Robust spatially aggregated projections of climate extremes. *Nature Climate Change*. 3(12):1033–1038. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate2051.

Frich, P., Alexander, L. V., Della-Marta, P., Gleason, B., Haylock, M., Tank Klein, A.M.G. & Peterson, T. 2002. Observed coherent changes in climatic extremes during the second half of the twentieth century. *Climate Research*. 19(3):193–212. DOI: 10.3354/cr019193.

Frieler, K., Meinshausen, M., Mengel, M., Braun, N., Hare, W., Frieler, K., Meinshausen, M., Mengel, M., et al. 2012. A Scaling Approach to Probabilistic Assessment of Regional Climate Change. *Journal of Climate*. 25(9):3117–3144. DOI: 10.1175/JCLI-D-11-00199.1.

Frieler, K., Lange, S., Piontek, F., Reyer, C.P.O., Schewe, J., Warszawski, L., Zhao, F., Chini, L., et al. 2017. Assessing the impacts of 1 . 5 ° C global warming – simulation protocol of the Inter-Sectoral Impact Model Intercomparison Project (ISIMIP2b). *Geoscientific Model Development*. 10:4321–4345. DOI: 10.5194/gmd-10-4321-2017.

Fung, F., Lopez, A. & New, M. 2011. Water availability in +2°C and +4°C worlds. *Philosophical transactions. Series A, Mathematical, physical, and engineering sciences*. 369(1934):99–116. DOI: 10.1098/rsta.2010.0293.

Hambira, W.L. & Saarinen, J. 2015. Policy-makers' perceptions of the tourism –climate change nexus: Policy needs and constraints in Botswana. *Development Southern Africa*. 32:350–362. DOI:

10.1080/0376835X.2015.1010716.

Hanson, C.E., Palutikof, J.P., Livermore, M.T.J., Barring, L., Bindi, M., Corte-Real, J., Durao, R., Giannakopoulos, C., et al. 2007. Modelling the impact of climate extremes: An overview of the MICE project. *Climatic Change*. 81(SUPPL. 1):163–177. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-006-9230-3.

Hare, B., Roming, N., Schaeffer, M. & Schleussner, C.-F. 2016. *Implications of the 1.5°C limit in the Paris Agreement for climate policy and decarbonisation*. Berlin.

Henley, B.J. & King, A.D. 2017. Trajectories towards the 1.5°C Paris target: modulation by the Interdecadal Pacific Oscillation. *Geophysical Research Letters*. 44(9):4256–4262. DOI: 10.1002/2017GL073480.

Huang, J., Yu, H., Dai, A., Wei, Y. & Kang, L. 2017. Drylands face potential threat under 2°C global warming target. *Nature Climate Change*. 7(6):417–422. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate3275.

Hulme, M. 2016. 1.5°C and climate research after the Paris Agreement. *Nature Climate Change*. 6(3):222–224. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate2939.

Huntingford, C. & Mercado, L.M. 2016. High chance that current atmospheric greenhouse concentrations commit to warmings greater than 1.5°C over land. *Scientific reports*. 6(April):30294. DOI: 10.1038/srep30294.

IPCC. 2012a. *Managing the risks of extreme events and disasters to advance climate change adaptation*. C.B. Field, V. Barros, T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, D.J. Dokken, K.L. Ebi, M.D. Mastrandrea, K.J. Mach, G.-K. Plattner, S.K. Allen, M. Tignor, & P.M. Midgley, Eds. Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press. DOI: 10.1596/978-0-8213-8845-7.

IPCC. 2012b. Glossary of Terms. In *Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation*. C.B. Field, V. Barros, T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, D.J. Dokken, K.L. Ebi, M.D. Mastrandrea, K.J. Mach, G.-K. Plattner, S.K. Allen, M. Tignor, & P.M. Midgley, Eds. Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press. 555–564. DOI: 10.1177/1403494813515131.

IPCC. 2012c. Summary for Policy Makers. In *Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation*. C.B. Field, V. Barros, T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, D.J. Dokken, K.L. Ebi, M.D. Mastrandrea, K.J. Mach, G.-K. Plattner, S.K. Allen, M. Tignor, & P.M. Midgley, Eds. Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press. 3–21.

IPCC. 2013. *Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*. V.B. and P.M.M. (eds.). [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, Ed. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press. DOI: 10.1017/CB09781107415324.Summary.

James, R., Washington, R., Schleussner, C.-F., Rogelj, J. & Conway, D. 2017. Characterizing half-a-

degree difference: a review of methods for identifying regional climate responses to global warming targets. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*. 8(2):e457. DOI: 10.1002/wcc.457.

Juana, J.S., Makepe, P.M., Mangadi, K.T. & Narayana, N. 2014. The Socio-economic Impact of Drought in Botswana. *International Journal of Environment and Development*. 11(1):43–60.

Kandji, S.T., Verchot, L. & Mackensen, J. 2006. *Climate Change and Variability in the Southern Africa: Impacts and Adaptation Strategies in the Agricultural Sector*. Nairobi, Kenya. Available: http://www.the-

eis.com/data/literature/Climate_change_and_variability_in_the_southern_africa.pdf [2017, August 22].

Kaplan, J.O. & New, M. 2006. Arctic climate change with a 2°C global warming: Timing, climate patterns and vegetation change. *Climatic Change*. 79(3–4):213–241. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-006-9113-7.

Karmalkar, A. V. & Bradley, R.S. 2017. Consequences of global warming of 1.5°C and 2°C for regional temperature and precipitation changes in the contiguous United States. *PLoS ONE*. 12(1):1–17. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0168697.

Kgosikoma, O.E. & Batisani, N. 2014. Livestock population dynamics and pastoral communities' adaptation to rainfall variability in communal lands of Kgalagadi South, Botswana. *Pastoralism*. 4:1–9. DOI: 10.1186/s13570-014-0019-0.

Kharin, V. V., Zwiers, F.W., Zhang, X. & Hegerl, G.C. 2007. Changes in temperature and precipitation extremes in the IPCC ensemble of global coupled model simulations. *Journal of Climate*. 20(8):1419–1444. DOI: 10.1175/JCLI4066.1.

Kharin, V. V., Zwiers, F.W., Zhang, X. & Wehner, M. 2013. Changes in temperature and precipitation extremes in the CMIP5 ensemble. *Climatic Change*. 119(2):345–357. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-013-0705-8.

King, A.D., Karoly, D.J., Henley, B.J., Karoly, D.J. & Henley, B.J. 2017. Australian climate extremes at 1.5°C and 2°C of global warming. *Nature Climate Change*. 7(May):1–10. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate3296.

King, D., Schrag, D., Dadi, Z., Ye, Q. & Ghosh, A. 2015. *Climate Change: A Risk Assessment*. London, Beijing, Delhi, Cambridge. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecocom.2014.11.002.

Klein Tank, A.M.G., Zwiers, F.W. & Zhang, X. 2009. *Guidelines on Analysis of extremes in a changing climate in support of informed decisions for adaptation*. Geneva, Switzerland. Available: File Attachment.

Kruger, A.C. & Nxumalo, M.P. 2017. Historical rainfall trends in South Africa: 1921 – 2015. *Water SA*. 43(2):285–297. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4314/wsa.v43i1.12.

Lewis, S.C. & King, A.D. 2017. Evolution of mean, variance and extremes in 21st century temperatures. *Weather and Climate Extremes*. 15:1–10. DOI: 10.1016/j.wace.2016.11.002.

Li, L., Ngongondo, C.S., Xu, C. & Gong, L. 2013. Comparison of the global TRMM and WFD precipitation datasets in driving a large-scale hydrological model in southern Africa. *Hydrology Research*. 44(5):770. DOI: 10.2166/nh.2012.175.

Li, W., Jiang, Z., Zhang, X., Li, L. & Sun, Y. 2017. Additional risk in extreme precipitation in China from 1.5°C to 2.0°C global warming levels. *Science Bulletin*. (December, 21). DOI: 10.1016/J.SCIB.2017.12.021.

Manhique, A.J., Reason, C.J.C., Silinto, B., Zucula, J., Raiva, I., Congolo, F. & Mavume, A.F. 2015. Extreme rainfall and floods in southern Africa in January 2013 and associated circulation patterns. *Natural Hazards*. 77(2):679–691. DOI: 10.1007/s11069-015-1616-y.

Manton, M.J. 2010. Trends in climate extremes affecting human settlements. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*. 2(3):151–155. DOI: 10.1016/j.cosust.2010.05.001.

Mapsland. 2017. *Maps of Botswana*. Available: http://www.mapsland.com/africa/botswana [2017, August 29].

Mason, S.J. & Jury, M.R. 1997. Climatic variability and change over southern Africa: a reflection on underlying processes. *Progress in Physical Geography*. 21(1):23–50. DOI: 10.1177/030913339702100103.

Masundire, H., Morchain, D., Raditloaneng, N., Hegga, S., Ziervogel, G., Molefe, C., Angula, M. & Omari, K. 2016. *Vulnerability and Risk Assessment in Botswana's Bobirwa Sub-District: Fostering People-Centred Adaptation to Climate Change*. Ottawa.

Mauritsen, T. & Pincus, R. 2017. Committed warming inferred from observations. *Nature Climate Change*. 7(9):652–655. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate3357.

May, W. 2008. Climatic changes associated with a global "2°C-stabilization" scenario simulated by the ECHAM5/MPI-OM coupled climate model. *Climate Dynamics*. 31(2–3):283–313. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-007-0352-8.

Mberego, S. 2017. Temporal patterns of precipitation and vegetation variability over Botswana during extreme dry and wet rainfall seasons. *International Journal of Climatology*. 37:2947–2960. DOI: 10.1175/JAMC-D-14-0006.1.

McElroy, M. & Baker, D.J. 2012. Climate Extremes: Recent Trends with Implications for National
Security.Security.Cambridge.http://environment.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/climate_extremes_report_2012-12-04.pdf.

McMichael, A.J., Woodruff, R.E. & Hales, S. 2006. Climate change and human health: Present and future risks. *Lancet*. 367(9513):859–869. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68079-3.

Millar, R.J., Fuglestvedt, J.S., Friedlingstein, P., Rogelj, J., Grubb, M.J., Matthews, H.D., Skeie, R.B., Forster, P.M., et al. 2017. Emission budgets and pathways consistent with limiting warming to 1.5 °c. *Nature Geoscience*. 10(10):741–747. DOI: 10.1038/NGEO3031.

Mitchell, T.D. 2003. Pattern Scaling: An Examination of the Accuracy of the Technique for Describing Future Climates. *Climatic Change*. 60(3):217–242. DOI: 10.1023/A:1026035305597.

Mitchell, D., Achutarao, K., Allen, M., Bethke, I., Beyerle, U., Ciavarella, A., Forster, P.M., Fuglestvedt, J., et al. 2017. Half a degree additional warming, prognosis and projected impacts (HAPPI): background and experimental design. *Geoscientific Model Development*. 10:571–583. DOI: 10.5194/gmd-10-571-2017.

Molekwa, S. 2013. Cut-off lows over South Africa and their contribution to the total rainfall of theEasternCapeProvince.UniversityofPretoria.Available:https://repository.up.ac.za/handle/2263/36767.

Monier, E. & Gao, X. 2015. Climate change impacts on extreme events in the United States: an uncertainty analysis. *Climatic Change*. 131(1):67–81. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-013-1048-1.

Moses, O. 2017. Heat wave characteristics in the context of climate change over the past 50 years in Botswana. *Botswana Notes and Records*. 49(0):13–25. Available: http://journals.ub.bw/index.php/bnr/article/view/973/589.

Moswete, N.N. & Dube, P.O. 2013. Wildlife-based Tourism and Climate : Potential Opportunities and Challenges for Botswana. In *Meeting the Challenges of Climate Change to Tourism: Case Studies of Best Practice*. L. D'Amore & P. Kalifungwa, Eds. Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publishing. 395–416.

Mouhamed, L., Traore, S.B., Alhassane, A. & Sarr, B. 2013. Evolution of some observed climate extremes in the West African Sahel. *Weather and Climate Extremes*. 1:19–25. DOI: 10.1016/j.wace.2013.07.005.

Moyo, E.N. & Nangombe, S.S. 2015. Southern Africa's 2012-13 violent storms: Role of climate change. *Procedia IUTAM*. 17(2013):69–78. DOI: 10.1016/j.piutam.2015.06.011.

Munich Re. 2017. Natural catastrophes 2016: Year of the floods. *Topics Geo*. Available: https://www.munichre.com/site/touch-publications/get/documents_E-271800065/mr/assetpool.shared/Documents/5_Touch/_Publications/TOPICS_GEO_2016-en.pdf.

ND-GAIN. 2016. *Botswana* / *ND-GAIN Country Index*. Available: http://index.gain.org/country/botswana [2018, January 27].

New, M., Hewitson, B., Stephenson, D.B., Tsiga, A., Kruger, A., Manhique, A., Gomez, B., Coelho, C.A.S., et al. 2006. Evidence of trends in daily climate extremes over southern and west Africa. *Journal of Geophysical Research Atmospheres*. 111(14):1–11. DOI: 10.1029/2005JD006289.

Nicholson, S.E., Leposo, D. & Grist, J. 2001. The Relationship between El Niño and Drought over Botswana. *Journal of Climate*. 14(3):323–335. DOI: 10.1175/1520-0442(2001)014<0323:TRBENO>2.0.CO;2.

Nkiaka, E., Nawaz, N. & Lovett, J. 2017. Evaluating Global Reanalysis Datasets as Input for Hydrological Modelling in the Sudano-Sahel Region. *Hydrology*. 4(1):13. DOI: 10.3390/hydrology4010013.

NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information. 2017. *State of the Climate: Global Climate Report for Annual 2016*. Available: https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/sotc/global/201613 [2017, September 01].

Northon, K. 2018. Long-Term Warming Trend Continued in 2017: NASA, NOAA. Available: https://www.nasa.gov/press-release/long-term-warming-trend-continued-in-2017-nasa-noaa [2018, January 23].

Omari, K. 2010a. Gender and Climate change: Botswana Case Study. Cape Town, South Africa.

Omari, K. 2010b. Climate Change Vulnerability and Adaptation Preparedness in Southern Africa – A Case Study of Botswana. Cape Town.

Pendergrass, A.G., Lehner, F., Sanderson, B.M. & Xu, Y. 2015. Does extreme precipitation intensity depend on the emissions scenario? *Geophysical Research Letters*. 42(20):8767–8774. DOI: 10.1002/2015GL065854.

Peters, G.P. 2016. The "best available science" to inform 1.5°C policy choices. *Nature Climate Change*. 6(7):646–649. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate3000.

Pinto, I., Lennard, C., Tadross, M., Hewitson, B., Dosio, A., Nikulin, G., Panitz, H.J. & Shongwe, M.E. 2016. Evaluation and projections of extreme precipitation over southern Africa from two CORDEX models. *Climatic Change*. 135(3–4):655–668. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-015-1573-1.

Raftery, A.E., Zimmer, A., Frierson, D.M.W., Startz, R. & Liu, P. 2017. Less than 2°C warming by 2100 unlikely. *Nature Climate Change*. 7(9):637–641. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate3352.

Razavi, T., Switzman, H., Arain, A. & Coulibaly, P. 2016. Regional climate change trends and uncertainty analysis using extreme indices: A case study of Hamilton, Canada. *Climate Risk Management*. 13:43–63. DOI: 10.1016/j.crm.2016.06.002.

Reason, C.J.C. 2007. Tropical cyclone Dera, the unusual 2000/01 tropical cyclone season in the South West Indian Ocean and associated rainfall anomalies over Southern Africa. *Meteorology and Atmospheric Physics*. 97(1–4):181–188. DOI: 10.1007/s00703-006-0251-2.

Reason, C.J.C. & Keibel, A. 2004. Tropical Cyclone Eline and Its Unusual Penetration and Impacts over the Southern African Mainland. *Weather and Forecasting*. 19(5):789–805. DOI: 10.1175/1520-0434(2004)019<0789:TCEAIU>2.0.CO;2.

Richard, Y., Fauchereau, N., Poccard, I., Rouault, M. & Trzaska, S. 2001. 20th century droughts in southern Africa: Spatial and temporal variability, teleconnections with oceanic and atmospheric conditions. *International Journal of Climatology*. 21:873–885. DOI: 10.1002/joc.656.

Rogelj, J., Meinshausen, M. & Knutti, R. 2012. Global warming under old and new scenarios using IPCC climate sensitivity range estimates. *Nature Climate Change*. 2(4):248–253. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate1385.

Rouault, M. & Richard, Y. 2005. Intensity and spatial extent of droughts in southern Africa. *Geophysical Research Letters*. 32(15):2–5. DOI: 10.1029/2005GL022436.

Sallu, S., Twyman, C. & Stringer, L.C. 2010. Resilient or Vulnerable Livelihoods? Assessing Livelihood Dynamics and Trajectories in Rural Botswana. *ECOLOGY AND SOCIETY*. 15(4).

Sanderson, B.M., Xu, Y., Tebaldi, C., Wehner, M., O'Neill, B., Jahn, A., Pendergrass, A.G., Lehner, F., et al. 2017. Community Climate Simulations to assess avoided impacts in 1.5 °C and 2 °C futures. *Earth System Dynamics Discussions*. 2017(April):1–33. DOI: 10.5194/esd-2017-42.

Schewe, J., Levermann, A. & Meinshausen, M. 2011. Climate change under a scenario near 1.5 C of global warming: monsoon intensification, ocean warming and steric sea level rise. *Earth Syst. Dynam*. 2:25–35. DOI: 10.5194/esd-2-25-2011.

Schiermeier, Q. 2012. Models hone picture of climate impacts. *Nature*. 482(7385):286. DOI: 10.1038/482286a.

Schlenker, W. & Lobell, D.B. 2010. Robust negative impacts of climate change on African agriculture. *Environmental Research Letters*. 5(1):014010. DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/5/1/014010.

Schleussner, C.F., Lissner, T.K., Fischer, E.M., Wohland, J., Perrette, M., Golly, A., Rogelj, J., Childers, K., et al. 2016. Differential climate impacts for policy-relevant limits to global warming: The case of 1.5°C and 2°C. *Earth System Dynamics*. 7(2):327–351. DOI: 10.5194/esd-7-327-2016.

Seneviratne, S.I., Nicholls, N., Easterling, D., Goodess, C.M., Kanae, S., Kossin, J., Luo, Y., Marengo, J., et al. 2012. Changes in climate extremes and their impacts on the natural physical environment. In Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation. A Special ed. C.B. Field, V. Barros, T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, D.J. Dokken, K.L. Ebi, M.D. Mastrandrea, K.J. Mach, G.-K. Plattner, S.K. Allen, M. Tignor, & P.M. Midgley, Eds. Cambridge, UK, Cambridge and New York. NY. USA: University Press. 109-230. DOI: 10.1017/CBO9781139177245.006.

Setshwaelo, L. 2001. A Study of Glasslands and Livestock Vulnerability and Adaptation to Climate Change in Botswana. Gaborone: Government of Botswana.

Shi, C., Jiang, Z.-H., Chen, W.-L. & Li, L. 2017. Changes in temperature extremes over China under 1.5 °C and 2 °C global warming targets. *Advances in Climate Change Research*. (December):1–8.

DOI: 10.1016/j.accre.2017.11.003.

Shongwe, M.E., Van Oldenborgh, G.J., Van Den Hurk, B.J.J.M., De Boer, B., Coelho, C.A.S. & Van Aalst, M.K. 2009. Projected changes in mean and extreme precipitation in Africa under global warming. Part I: Southern Africa. *Journal of Climate*. 22(13):3819–3837. DOI: 10.1175/2009JCLI2317.1.

Siderius, C., Gannon, K.E., Ndiyoi, M., Opere, A., Batisani, N., Olago, D., Pardoe, J. & Conway, D. 2018. Hydrological Response and Complex Impact Pathways of the 2015/2016 El Niño in Eastern and Southern Africa. *Earth's Future*. 6:2–22. DOI: 10.1002/2017EF000680.

Sillmann, J., Kharin, V. V., Zhang, X., Zwiers, F.W. & Bronaugh, D. 2013. Climate extremes indices in the CMIP5 multimodel ensemble: Part 1. Model evaluation in the present climate. *Journal of Geophysical Research Atmospheres*. 118(4):1716–1733. DOI: 10.1002/jgrd.50203.

Sillmann, J., Kharin, V. V., Zwiers, F.W., Zhang, X. & Bronaugh, D. 2013. Climate extremes indices in the CMIP5 multimodel ensemble: Part 2. Future climate projections. *Journal of Geophysical Research Atmospheres*. 118(6):2473–2493. DOI: 10.1002/jgrd.50188.

Sillmann, J., Thorarinsdottir, T., Keenlyside, N., Schaller, N., Alexander, L. V., Hegerl, G., Seneviratne, S.I., Vautard, R., et al. 2017. Understanding, modeling and predicting weather and climate extremes: Challenges and opportunities. *Weather and Climate Extremes*. 18:65–74. DOI: 10.1016/j.wace.2017.10.003.

Singleton, A.T. & Reason, C.J.C. 2007. Variability in the characteristics of cut-off low pressure systems over subtropical southern Africa. *International Journal of Climatology*. 27(3):295–310. DOI: 10.1002/joc.1399.

Spear, D., Baudoin, M., Hegga, S., Zaroug, M., Okeyo, A. & Haimbili, E. 2015. *Vulnerability and Adaptation To Climate Change in the Semi-Arid Regions of Southern Africa*. Available: http://www.assar.uct.ac.za.

Statistics Botswana. 2015. Annual Agricultural Survey Report 2013. Gaborone.

Statistics Botswana. 2016a. *Botswana Environment Statistics: natural disasters digest 2015*. 2016th ed. Gaborone, Botswana.

Statistics Botswana. 2016b. *Selected Statistical Indicators 1966-2016: Enabling Stakeholders formulate policies, plan and make decisions.* Gaborone. Available: www.cso.gov.bw.

Su, X., Takahashi, K., Fujimori, S., Hasegawa, T., Tanaka, K., Kato, E., Shiogama, H., Masui, T., et al. 2017. Emission pathways to achieve 2.0°C and 1.5°C climate targets. *Earth's Future*. 5(6):592–604. DOI: 10.1002/2016EF000492.

Tanser, F.C., Sharp, B. & Le Sueur, D. 2003. Potential effect of climate change on malaria transmission in Africa. *Lancet*. 362(9398):1792–1798. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14898-2.

Taylor, K.E., Stouffer, R.J. & Meehl, G.A. 2012. An overview of CMIP5 and the experiment design. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*. 93(4):485–498. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-11-00094.1.

Tebaldi, C. & Arblaster, J.M. 2014. Pattern scaling: Its strengths and limitations, and an update on the latest model simulations. *Climatic Change*. 122(3):459–471. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-013-1032-9.

Touré Halimatou, A., Kalifa, T. & Kyei-Baffour, N. 2017. Assessment of changing trends of daily precipitation and temperature extremes in Bamako and Ségou in Mali from 1961-2014. *Weather and Climate Extremes*. 18:8–16. DOI: 10.1016/j.wace.2017.09.002.

Trenberth, K.E. 2012. Framing the way to relate climate extremes to climate change. *Climate Change*. 115:283–290. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-012-0441-5.

Trouet, V. & Van Oldenborgh, G.J. 2013. KNMI Climate Explorer: A Web-Based Research Tool for High-Resolution Paleoclimatology. *Tree-Ring Research*. 69(1):3–13. DOI: 10.3959/1536-1098-69.1.3.

Tschakert, P. 2015. 1.5°C or 2°C: a conduit's view from the science-policy interface at COP20 in Lima, Peru. *Climate Change Responses*. 2(1):3. DOI: 10.1186/s40665-015-0010-z.

Tsheko, R. 2003. Rainfall reliability, drought and flood vulnerability in Botswana. *Water SA*. 29(4):389–392. DOI: 10.4314/wsa.v29i4.5043.

UNFCCC. 2015. Decision 1/CP.21. The Paris Agreement. DOI: FCCC/CP/2015/L.9/Rev.1.

United Nations. 2015. BOTSWANA : Millennium Development Goals Status Report 2015; Sustaining progress to 2015 and beyond.

Usman, M.T. & Reason, C.J.C. 2004. Dry spell frequencies and their variability over southern Africa. *Climate Research*. 26(3):199–211. DOI: 10.3354/cr026199.

Vossen, P. 1990. Rainfall and Agricultural Production in Botswana. *Afrika Focus*. 6(2):141–155.

Wang, Z., Lin, L., Zhang, X., Zhang, H., Liu, L. & Xu, Y. 2017. Scenario dependence of future changes in climate extremes under 1.5°C and 2°C global warming. *Scientific Reports*. 7:46432. DOI: 10.1038/srep46432.

Washington, R. & Preston, A. 2006. Extreme wet years over southern Africa: Role of Indian Ocean sea surface temperatures. *JOURNAL OF GEOPHYSICAL RESEARCH*. 111(D5104). DOI: 10.1029/2005JD006724.

Weedon, G.P., Balsamo, G., Bellouin, N., Gomes, S., Best, M.J. & Viterbo, P. 2014. The WFDEI meteorological forcing data set: WATCH Forcing Data methodology applied to ERA-Interim reanalysis data. *Water Resources Research*. 50(9):7505–7514. DOI: 10.1002/2014WR015638.

Williams, G. 2016. *Botswana: Wlidlife Department Bowses Water for Animals - Save the Elephants*. Available: http://www.savetheelephants.org/about-elephants-2-3/elephant-news-post/?detail=botswana-wlidlife-department-bowses-water-for-animals [2017, July 26].

Williams, C.J.R., Kniveton, D.R. & Layberry, R. 2007. Climatic and oceanic associations with daily rainfall extremes over southern Africa. *International Journal of Climatology*. 27:93–108. DOI: 10.1002/joc1376.

WMO. (in press). WMO statement on the status of the global climate in 2016. *World Meteorological Organization*. (1189):WMO-No. 1189. Available: http://www.wmo.int/pages/mediacentre/press_releases/documents/WMO_1108_EN_web_00 0.pdf.

World Bank. 2013. *Turn Down the Heat: Climate Extremes, Regional Impacts, and the Case for Resilience*. Washington D.C.

You, Q., Kang, S., Aguilar, E., Pepin, N., Flugel, W.A., Yan, Y., Xu, Y., Zhang, Y., et al. 2011. Changes in daily climate extremes in China and their connection to the large scale atmospheric circulation during 1961-2003. *Climate Dynamics*. 36(11–12):2399–2417. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-009-0735-0.

Zaroug, M., New, M. & Lennard, C. n.d. National Climate Change at 1.5 and 2.0°C Global Warming over Africa. *Environmental Research Letters*.

Zelazowski, P., Malhi, Y., Huntingford, C., Sitch, S. & Fisher, J.B. 2011. Changes in the potential distribution of humid tropical forests on a warmer planet. *Philosophical transactions. Series A, Mathematical, physical, and engineering sciences*. 369(1934):137–60. DOI: 10.1098/rsta.2010.0238.

Zhang, X., Alexander, L., Hegerl, G.C., Jones, P., Tank, A.K., Peterson, T.C., Trewin, B. & Zwiers, F.W. 2011. Indices for monitoring changes in extremes based on daily temperature and precipitation data. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*. 2(6):851–870. DOI: 10.1002/wcc.147.

CHAPTER 8. APPENDICES



Figure S1: Box and whisker plots showing the relative changes in extreme accumulated precipitation indices across an ensemble of 24 participating model members. The changes are at 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0 °C above preindustrial levels (1861-1900). P-values from the WRS test are shown: P_0 , P_1 and P_2 compares the ensemble spread of 1.0 to 1.5°C, 1.5 to 2.0 °C and 1.0 to 2.0 °C warmer climate regimes respectively

Table S1: CMIP5 Models used in the study

Model Name	Abbreviation		
Australian Community Climate and Earth-System Simulator	ACCESS1-0		
Beijing Climate Center Climate System Model, version 1.1	BCC-CSM1-1		
Second Generation Canadian Earth System Model	CANESM2		
Community Climate System Model, version 4	CCSM4		
Centro Euro-Mediterraneo per I Cambiamenti Climatici Climate Model	CMCC-CM		
Centro Euro-Mediterraneo per I Cambiamenti Climatici Stratosphere-resolving Climate Model	CMCC-CMS		
Centre National de Recherches Météorologiques Coupled Global Climate Model, version 5	CNRM-CM5		
Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation Mark 3.6.0	CSIRO-MK3-6-0		
Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory Climate Model, version 3	GFDL-CM3		
Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory Earth System Model with GOLD component	GFDL-ESM2G		
Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory Earth System Model with MOM, version 4 component	GFDL-ESM2M		
Hadley Centre Global Environment Model, version 2 - Carbon Cycle	HADGEM2-CC		
Hadley Centre Global Environment Model, version 2 - Earth System	HADGEM2-ES		
Institute of Numerical Mathematics Coupled Model, version 4.0	INMCM4		
L'Institut Pierre-Simon Laplace Coupled Model, version 5A, low resolution	IPSL-CM5A-LR		
L'Institut Pierre-Simon Laplace Coupled Model, version 5A, mid resolution	IPSL-CM5A-MR		
L'Institut Pierre-Simon Laplace Coupled Model, version 5B, low resolution	IPSL-CM5B-LR		
Model for Interdisciplinary Research on Climate, version 5	MIROC5		
Model for Interdisciplinary Research on Climate, Earth System Model	MIROC-ESM		
Model for Interdisciplinary Research on Climate, Earth System Model, Chemistry Coupled	MIROC-ESM- CHEM		
Max Planck Institute Earth System Model, low resolution	MPI-ESM-LR		
Max Planck Institute Earth System Model, medium resolution	MPI-ESM-MR		
Meteorological Research Institute Coupled Atmosphere–Ocean General Circulation Model, version 3	MRI-CGCM3		
Norwegian Earth System Model, version 1 (intermediate resolution)	NorESM1-M		

	% Number of Members Projecting Negative Change											
	REGION 1			REGION 2			REGION 3			Botswana		
Warming Level	1.0 °C	1.5°C	2.0°C	1.0 °C	1.5°C	2.0°C	1.0 °C	1.5°C	2.0°C	1.0 °C	1.5°C	2.0°C
Index		PRECIPITATION										
PRCPTOT	62.5	66.7	75.0	58.3	62.5	79.2	54.2	58.3	83.3	58.3	62.5	83.3
ALTCDD	16.7	8.3	4.2	12.5	8.3	0.0	16.7	4.2	0.0	12.5	4.2	4.2
ALTCWD	62.5	79.2	79.2	50.0	66.7	79.2	45.8	62.5	75.0	54.2	75.0	79.2
R95P	37.5	37.5	41.7	41.7	50.0	50.0	45.8	45.8	50.0	41.7	41.7	50.0
R99P	29.2	20.8	25.0	41.7	25.0	29.2	45.8	41.7	37.5	33.3	20.8	25.0
RX1DAY	37.5	20.8	29.2	37.5	33.3	37.5	50.0	37.5	37.5	33.3	25.0	25.0
RX5DAY	41.7	20.8	25.0	41.7	41.7	33.3	45.8	50.0	50.0	45.8	25.0	33.3
R20MM	45.8	45.8	58.3	50.0	50.0	58.3	45.8	50.0	50.0	50.0	50.0	58.3
R10MM	62.5	66.7	75.0	58.3	62.5	79.2	66.7	62.5	79.2	58.3	62.5	79.2
		TEMPERATURE										
TN10P	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
TN90P	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
TX10P	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
ТХ90Р	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	8.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
WSDI	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	8.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

Table S2: Summary of model agreement on sign of change, percentage number of participating models projecting a negative (decrease) change for the different climate extreme indices.

		MEDIAN AND INTERQUARTILE RANGE											
		REGION 1			REGION 2			REGION 3			Botswana		
	Warming Level	1.0 °C	1.5 °C	2.0 °C	1.0 °C	1.5 °C	2.0 °C	1.0 °C	1.5 °C	2.0 °C	1.0 °C	1.5 °C	2.0 °C
Index	Units	PRECIPITATION											
PRCPTOT	mm/yr	-20.2 -0.6, 16.2	-55.1 - <mark>82.1,</mark> 25.8	-75.9 -113.0,-6.8	- <mark>3.6</mark> -44.8,15.9	-24.7 -72.8,12.2	-61.7 -97.7,-18.3	-10.0 - <mark>37.9,</mark> 17.90	-30.4 -64.28,11.1	-43.0 -100.4,-11.4	-13.4 -42.1,15.1	-33.4 -74.0,18.4	-63.4 -98.8,-12.6
ALTCDD	days	7.2 1.2,16.0	13.5 7.0,17.9	18.7 12.0,24.2	4.5 3.0,10.8	8.7 4.7,14.5	16.6 8.3,20.5	5.5 4.1,10.8	9.2 4.9,13.3	14.5 9.2,19.7	5.7 2.4,13.4	10.4 6.1,15.3	17.8 9.8,20.4
ALTCWD	days	- <mark>0.2</mark> -1.3,0.3	-0.9 -1.9,-0.3	-1.3 -2.4,2.6	0.0 - <mark>0.7,</mark> 0.8	-0.5 -1.9,0.2	-0.7 -1.2,-0.5	0.1 - <mark>0.5,</mark> 0.5	-0.3 -1.1,0.3	-0.6 -1.4,-0.1	- <mark>0.1</mark> - <mark>0.9,</mark> 0.6	-0.7 -1.3,-0.1	-1.0 -1.5,-0.5
R95P	mm/yr	6.2 - <mark>17.9</mark> ,20.3	5.2 - <mark>4.2</mark> ,24.4	3.4 - <mark>9.2</mark> ,30.7	0.3 - <mark>15.3</mark> ,19.0	3.6 - <mark>12.5</mark> ,23.1	- <mark>0.1</mark> - <mark>12.6</mark> ,21.5	1.6 - <mark>11.3</mark> ,19.7	3.4 - <mark>16.1</mark> ,23.0	- <mark>0.8</mark> - <mark>12.9</mark> ,16.0	2.1 - <mark>9.4</mark> ,20.3	7.3 - <mark>9.6</mark> ,24.2	0.7 <mark>-9.9</mark> ,26.0
R99P	mm/yr	3.5 - <mark>1.3</mark> ,13.9	10.3 3.9,17.3	8.7 0.1,22.7	2.2 - <mark>4.0</mark> ,12.1	6.9 0.3,14.4	6.6 - <mark>1.3</mark> ,17.0	1.9 -4.1 ,13.0	3.8 - <mark>3.6</mark> ,13.6	3.6 - <mark>1.4</mark> ,12.1	2.9 - <mark>1.7</mark> ,11.7	8.0 2.7,15.2	7.7 0.6,20.4
RX1DAY	mm/dy	0.8 - <mark>1.1</mark> ,2.6	2.0 0.3,3.7	2.5 0.1,5.3	0.6 - <mark>1.4</mark> ,2.2	1.2 - <mark>0.6</mark> ,3.2	2.0 - <mark>0.7</mark> ,4.0	0.1 - <mark>1.1</mark> ,1.4	0.7 - <mark>1.3</mark> ,2.4	0.7 - <mark>0.4</mark> ,2.1	0.1 - <mark>0.7</mark> ,2.0	1.3 0.0,3.2	1.7 0.0,4.0
RX5DAY	mm/5dy	2.5 - <mark>3.5</mark> ,5.7	2.7 1.0,6.8	2.7 - <mark>0.1</mark> ,10.6	1.6 - <mark>4.3</mark> ,4.8	0.7 - <mark>2.0</mark> ,6.1	2.31 - <mark>2.8</mark> ,6.7	1.8 - <mark>4.4</mark> ,3.6	0.4 - <mark>4.7</mark> ,5.7	0.5 - <mark>3.4</mark> ,3.9	0.6 - <mark>4.2</mark> ,4.5	1.8 - <mark>0.3</mark> ,5.7	1.6 - <mark>0.9</mark> ,7.3
R20MM	days	0.1 - <mark>0.6</mark> ,0.4	0.1 - <mark>0.4</mark> ,0.4	-0.1 - <mark>0.6</mark> ,0.6	0.0 - <mark>0.5</mark> ,0.5	- <mark>0.1</mark> - <mark>0.5</mark> ,0.8	-0.2 -0.4,0.4	0.0 - <mark>0.2</mark> ,0.7	0.0 - <mark>0.4</mark> ,0.7	0.0 - <mark>0.3</mark> ,0.4	0.0 - <mark>0.5</mark> ,0.5	0.00 - <mark>0.4</mark> ,0.5	- <mark>0.2</mark> - <mark>0.4</mark> ,0.4
R10MM	days	-0.7 -2.2,0.4	- <mark>2.0</mark> - <mark>3.1</mark> ,0.9	-2.8 -4.1,-0.9	- <mark>0.2</mark> - 1.7 ,0.6	- <mark>1.3</mark> - <mark>2.6</mark> ,0.3	-2.2 3.4,-0.2	- <mark>0.2</mark> - 1.2 ,1.5	- <mark>0.9</mark> - <mark>2.1</mark> ,0.9	-1.2 -2.8,-0.3	- <mark>0.4</mark> - 1.7 ,0.9	-1.4 -2.4,0.5	-2.4 -3.6,-0.6
			I				TEMP	ERATURE				1	
TN10P	%	-9.1 -10.1,-6.7	-11.0 -12.5,-8.8	-12.2 -13.7,-10.8	-7.5 -8.8.8,-6.5	-10.3 -11.4,-8.4	-11.4 -13.0,-10.0	-7.3 -8.6,-6.7	-9.9 -11.13,-8.7	-11.0 -12.3,-10.1	-8.1 -9.5,-6.7	-10.6 -11.6,-8.4	-11.6 -13.2,-9.7
TN90P	%	12.9 10.8,16.0	23.3 10.7,28.2	35.0 30.3,38.7	12.0 9.5,14.2	20.3 18.3,22.6	30.6 26.1,33.2	10.5 8.6,13.2	19.4 18.3,22.6	28.0 26.1,33.2	12.6 9.8,14.8	21.1 18.9,24.8	32.8 27.9,35.4
TX10P	%	-6.0 -7.0,-5.4	-8.2 -9.0,-7.2	-9.3 -11.0,-8.6	-5.2 -5.9,-4.3	-7.0 -7.9,-6.1	-8.6 -9.5,-7.8	-5.3 -6.2,-4.3	-7.4 -8.1,-6.1	-8.5 -9.7,-7.4	-5.7 -6.2,-4.9	-7.4 -8.2,-6.7	-9.0 -9.9,-8.2
TX90P	%	11.4 9.9,14.8	20.9 17.8,26.1	31.6 25.4,33.9	10.5 8.9,13.1	18.4 16.2,22.5	27.6 24.4,32.7	10.8 9.5,13.3	19.5 16.3,23.9	28.1 25.1,33.3	10.7 9.2,13.6	19.8 17.1,24.3	29.5 24.9,32.7
WSDI	days	23.5 16.3,32.0	47.0 34.7,61.2	80.7 62.3,96.4	18.6 12.6,24.3	41.2 30.1,45.5	65.4 52.6,76.5	17.4 12.7,22.4	37.3 26.7,43.5	62.4 54.3,72.1	20.5 14.2,27.6	43.9 33.0,51.0	70.6 57.5,80.3

Table S3: Median changes in the precipitation and temperature indices (top figures) and the inter-quartile ranges of the ensemble spread of the changes (bottom figures). NOTE: The red colored figures show negative changes

i.m.